# BHIVA/BASHH/FSRH guidelines for the sexual & reproductive health of people living with HIV

Laura Waters<sup>1</sup>, Emily Lord<sup>2</sup>, Nicola Mackie<sup>3</sup>, Louise Melvin<sup>4</sup>, Jane Ashby<sup>1</sup>, Chitra Babu<sup>5</sup>, Benjamin Black<sup>6</sup>, Deborah Boyle<sup>7</sup>, Rageshri Dhairyawan<sup>8</sup>, Yvonne Gilleece<sup>9</sup>, Sarah Hardman<sup>10,11</sup>, Sharon Jay<sup>12</sup>, Vinod Kumar<sup>13</sup>, Chris O'Connor<sup>14</sup>, Keith Radcliffe<sup>15</sup>, Alison Wright<sup>16</sup>, Shema Tariq<sup>1,17</sup>, Shaun Watson<sup>18</sup>, Katherine White<sup>1</sup>

- 1. Department of GU/HIV Medicine, Central & NW London NHS Trust (BASHH rep);
- 2. Department of GU/HIV Medicine, Oxford University Hospitals NHS Trust;
- 3. Department of GU/HIV Medicine, St Mary's Hospital, Imperial NHS Trust, London (BHIVA rep);
- 4. Department of SRH, Sandyford, NHS Greater Glasgow & Clyde (FSRH rep);
- 5. Department of GU/HIV Medicine, The Hathersage Centre, Manchester;
- 6. Department of Obstetrics & Gynaecology, Homerton University Hospital, London;
- 7. Department of Gynaecology, Royal Free London NHS Trust;
- 8. Department of Sexual Health, The Royal London Hospital, Barts Health NHS Trust;
- 9. Department of GU/HIV Medicine, Brighton & Sussex University Hospitals Trust;
- 10. Department SRH, Chalmers Centre, Edinburgh
- 11. Deputy Director Clinical effectiveness Unit, FSRH,
- 12. ADD;
- 13. University Hospitals Birmingham NHS Trust;
- 14. Community representative, UK-CAB;
- 15. Department of Sexual Health & HIV, University Hospitals Birmingham Trust;
- 16. Independent guidelines researcher;
- 17. University College London;
- 18. Department of GU/HIV Medicine, Chelsea & Westminster NHS Trust, London;

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	2
Keywords	2
Important changes in the 2017 guidelines	
Methods	
Introduction & general issues	
Sexually transmitted infections	
Cervical screening	7
Pre-conception advice & conception	11
Antiretroviral therapy: impact on transmission & conception	
Pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) and pre-exposure-prophylaxis for conception (PrEP-C)	
Investigations in couples affected by HIV, trying to conceive through UPSI	23
Contraception for Women with HIV	24
Hormonal contraception and antiretroviral drug-drug interactions	
Contraception and HIV Acquisition, Transmission and Disease Progression	
Management of the menopause in women living with HIV	
Intimate Partner Violence	
Female genital mutilation	49
Sexual dysfunction and HIV	51

# Abstract

These guidelines are an update to the 2007 UK guidelines for the management of sexual and reproductive health (SRH) of people living with HIV infection (PLWH). The writing group have utilised updated BASHH guideline methodology, notably using the GRADE system for assessing evidence and making recommendations. We have made significant changes to the recommendations which are summarised below.

# Keywords

HIV; reproductive; sexual health; conception; contraception; transmission.

# Important changes in the 2017 guidelines

- Cervical screening update
- Practical guidance regarding conception advice and fertility screening
- Undetectable = uninfectious
- Pre-exposure prophylaxis for conception
- Contraception considerations
- Menopause
- Intimate partner violence
- Sexual dysfunction

#### Methods

The guidelines writing group utilised the updated version of the BASHH Framework for Guideline Development accessible at

<u>http://www.bashh.org/documents/2015%20GUIDELINES%20FRAMEWORK.pdf</u>. This includes use of the GRADE system for assessing evidence (<u>http://www.gradeworkinggroup.org/index.htm</u>).

The writing group included: representatives of BASHH, BHIVA and FSRH, clinicians with expertise who applied or were invited to join the writing group, members of the broader multidisciplinary team (nursing, pharmacist, health advisor, psychology and trainee representatives) and a community representative elected by UK-CAB.

The writing group determined the PICO questions which then formed the basis for literature search:

ΡΙϹΟ

- P = patient population = adults with or at risk of HIV considering reproductive/ contraceptive options
- I = interventions = options for conception (UPSI, PrEP, sperm washing etc)

other assisted reproduction options including surrogacy and adoption, contraceptive options, sexual dysfunction and fertility

- C = no intervention, different interventions
- O = outcomes = good sexual & reproductive health, no onward HIV transmission

Keywords were identified by the Writing Committee and the electronic database searches were set up by the information Scientist based on a PI (population, intervention) framework (HIV AND all interventions). A combination of index headings (where available) and text word searching

was used and details can be found in the database search protocol in the online appendix to the guideline.

- The following keywords were used for the conference website/ abstract book: conception conceive fertility subfertility infertility sperm washing contraceptive contraception IVF reproduction insemination surrogacy donor egg UPSI.
- The results of the searches were sifted by reading the titles and /or abstracts and potentially relevant papers obtained in full text if available and reviewed. Relevant papers were then appraised

The following sources were searched for published peer-reviewed studies:

- Medline and Pre-Medline
- Embase
- The Cochrane Library

The following conferences were also searched for 'grey literature' (oral and poster presentations):

- IAS HIV Pathogenesis and Treatment
- World AIDS
- CROI
- EACS
- BHIVA/BASHH
- HIV Drug Congress (Glasgow Meeting)
- FSRH

Study types searched for were systematic reviews, clinical trials and observational studies:

- Date parameters for the database search were January 2004 to December 2015 and the last three years for conference abstracts. Searches were conducted during March & December 2015 with limited additional searches undertaken December 2016-August 2017
- Animal studies, case reports, letters and editorials and comments were excluded
- Results were limited to English language

# Stakeholder involvement, piloting and feedback

The draft guidelines recommendations were presented at the British HIV Association Autumn conference 2016. The document was reviewed by the Clinical Effectiveness Group of BASHH, and their comments incorporated. The draft guideline was placed on the BASHH website and any comments received after 8 weeks were reviewed by the authors and actioned appropriately (appendix XX – to be added post-consultation). The writing group included a community representative.

# Acknowledgements

Thank you to Duncan Churchill and Adrian Palfreeman for their review

# Introduction & general issues

The number of people living with HIV (PLWH) continues to rise in the UK [1], a function of increasingly normal life expectancy for those diagnosed and on treatment [2] and new diagnoses annually [1]. HIV should not be a barrier to healthy and fulfilling sex life, particularly now there is good evidence to support a zero risk of HIV transmission from antiretroviral treated individuals with sustained viral suppression [3-5]. Access to appropriate, up-to-date advice about transmission risk is an essential element of holistic HIV services. Likewise, PLWH should expect the same standards of reproductive, preconception, fertility and antenatal services as their HIV-negative counterparts. The risk of HIV transmission from a woman living with HIV (WLWH) if diagnosed in a timely manner and managed appropriately, is very low [6]. The British HIV Association (BHIVA) standards for PLWH include recommendations for access to appropriate sexual health screening, treatment and advice, as well as reproductive health services; they also highlight, however, that the impact of living with HIV, a potentially stigmatising condition, and associated sexual dysfunction and psychosexual morbidity, must not be underestimated. In addition, rising rates of sexually transmitted infections (STI) amongst men who have sex with men (MSM) emphasise the importance of open and rapid access to STI screening, treatment, partner notification and risk reduction advice.

# Who are these guidelines for?

All people involved in the provision of services or advice related to the sexual and reproductive health of PLWH and their partners including: HIV clinics, sexual & reproductive health services, primary care, obstetrics, gynaecology & fertility services, community and peer-led organisations, and appropriate commissioners.

#### What is not covered in the 2017 guidelines?

A number of relevant issues may be mentioned but are covered in more detail by other guidelines accessible on the BHIVA, BASHH and FSRH websites, including:

- Human papilloma virus (HPV) vaccination [BHIVA vaccine guidelines]
- HPV-related malignancy screening & management [BHIVA malignancy guidelines]
- Viral hepatitis screening/vaccination [BHIVA hepatitis & BASHH hepatitis guidelines]
- STI screening & management [BASHH guidelines]
- Sexual history taking & STI screening [BHIVA monitoring guidelines]
- Post-exposure prophylaxis [BASHH PEP guidelines]
- Pre-exposure prophylaxis [BHIVA/BASHH PrEP guidelines]

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Kirwan PD, Chau C, Brown AE, Gill ON, Delpech VC and contributors. HIV in the UK 2016 report. December 2016. Public Health England, London.
- 2. May MT, Gompels M, Delpech V et al. Impact on life expectancy of HIV-1 positive individuals of CD4+ cell count and viral load response to antiretroviral therapy. AIDS. 2014 May 15;28(8):1193-202.
- Rodger AJ, Cambiano V, Bruun T et al. Sexual Activity Without Condoms and Risk of HIV Transmission in Serodifferent Couples When the HIV-Positive Partner Is Using Suppressive Antiretroviral Therapy. JAMA. 2016 Jul 12;316(2):171-81.
- 4. Eshleman SH, Hudelson SE, Redd AD ey al. Treatment as Prevention: Characterization of partner infections in the HIV Prevention Trials Network 052 trial. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2016 Aug 16. [Epub ahead of print]
- Bavington B, Grinsztejn B, Phanuphak N et al. HIV treatment prevents HIV transmission in male serodiscordant couples in Australia, Thailand and Brazil. <u>http://programme.ias2017.org/Abstract/Abstract/5469 accessed 20th August 2017</u>
- 6. http://www.bhiva.org/documents/Guidelines/Pregnancy/2012/BHIVA-Pregnancy-guidelines-update-2014.pdf accessed 19<sup>th</sup> September 2016.

# Sexually transmitted infections

# **Recommendations:**

- To follow BHIVA monitoring guidelines for STI screening in PLWH (GPP)
- To follow BHIVA monitoring plus BHIVA hepatitis guidelines for viral hepatitis screening in PLWH (GPP)
- Sexual history review at all routine clinic appointments (GPP)
- Provision of appropriate verbal, written or online information about risks and recommended screening for STI and viral hepatitis (GPP)

2016 BHIVA monitoring guidelines are summarised below. We recommend following the BHIVA monitoring guidance with regards to STI screening although highlight that not all acute hepatitis C is associated with a raised ALT and individuals who have had a high risk potential exposure to HCV within 6 months should be offered RNA or antigen testing regardless of ALT level.

Of note, the BHIVA monitoring guidelines state that hepatitis and STI screening should be available within HIV clinics. We strongly support this recommendation, particularly in an era of service fragmentation secondary to divided commissioning arrangements, service reviews and tendering exercises.

# BHIVA 2016 monitoring guideline recommendations for STI and hepatitis screening

#### Baseline

- We recommend a full STI screen is offered to all PLWH at baseline, to be directed by the sexual history. The screen should include syphilis serology for all, vulvo-vaginal swabs for chlamydia and gonorrhoea Nucleic Acid Amplification Tests (NAAT) for all women, urine testing for chlamydia and gonorrhoea NAAT for men, and pharyngeal and rectal swabs for chlamydia and gonorrhoea NAAT for MSM and heterosexual women with a history of oral or anal sex (1B).
- Hepatitis A virus IgG (or total)
- Hepatitis B tests:
  - Surface antigen (HBsAg)
  - Anti-core total antibody (anti-HBc)
  - Anti-surface antibody (anti-HBs)
- Hepatitis C virus antibody
  - If positive test RNA (at least twice if initially negative)

#### Annually

- Screen for gonorrhoea and chlamydia all exposed sites if partner change since the last test (self-taken swabs if asymptomatic);
- Syphilis serology if partner change since the last test;
- Hepatitis B (for infection or immunity) and C screening (in at-risk patients).

#### Three-monthly

We recommend 3-monthly screening for STIs if the patient has high risk factors for acquisition, e.g. MSM with frequent partner change or chemsex/IVDU with chaotic lifestyle/CSW/patients who frequently use intranasal cocaine/recent tattoo abroad/recent blood transfusion abroad/other risk (1B)

- We recommend that in such patients the following will be performed (1B):
  - Screen for gonorrhoea and chlamydia at all exposed sites;
  - Syphilis serology
- Also consider at least annually in patients with high risk:
  - Hepatitis B surface antigen or core antibody if not known to be core antibody positive or vaccinated with an adequate surface antibody response (>10 MIU/mL);
  - Hepatitis C antibody (HCV antigen or RNA if ALT abnormal).

The BHVA hepatitis guidelines recommend those without immunity should have an annual HBsAg test or more frequent testing if there are known and ongoing risk factors for HBV acquisition. Their recommendations with regards to hepatitis C testing are:

- HCV antibody at baseline and at least annually if not in risk group requiring more frequent testing
- Anti-HCV and HCV-PCR if raised transaminases or recent high-risk exposure to an individual known to be HCV positive. If prior spontaneous clearance or successful treatment HCV-PCR only should be performed
- We recommend the HCV-PCR should be repeated after 1 month if initially negative and if any potential exposure
- We recommend patients who have repeated high-risk exposures but persistently normal transaminases are screened with anti-HCV and HCV-PCR, or HCV-PCR alone if previously successfully treated for or spontaneously have cleared infection and are HCV antibody positive, at 3–6-monthly intervals

# **Cervical screening**

# Recommendations

- Current National Health Service Cervical Screening Programme (NHSCSP) UK guidelines recommend that women with HIV be screened annually between the ages of 25 and 65 and we endorse these recommendations
- The clinical reason for annual smears must be documented on the sample request form (ie the woman is HIV positive) or the sample may be rejected by the laboratory
- Multifocal intraepithelial neoplasia is commoner in women with HIV than those without. Symptom enquiry and external ano-genital examination is advised when taking a cervical cytology sample
- For women diagnosed with HIV after the age of 25, particularly those with previous cervical abnormalities or a long interval since last screening, colposcopic evaluation as well as cervical cytology should be offered where resources permit
- Challenges regarding invitation for annual screening for WLWH who do not wish to disclose their HIV status to primary care should be discussed

Cervical cancer is common globally, almost always associated with human papilloma virus (HPV) infection – HPV types 16 and 18 account for over 60% of cases – and is more common in WLWH [1,2]. WLWH have an increased risk of high-risk HPV (hrHPV) infections compared with their HIV-negative counterparts [3].

In the UK, adolescent females are offered vaccination against HPV at the age of 12-13 as part of the NHS Childhood Vaccination Programme. This is free of charge and in 2015-16, 85% of eligible female adolescents received the full course of vaccination via this programme [4]. The longer term impact of vaccination on CIN and cervical cancer rates has yet to unfold. Currently, no change is suggested with respect to cervical screening in the UK regardless of whether or not a woman has been previously vaccinated against HPV.

The age at first cervical screening invitation via the NHS programme is currently 25 years across the whole of the UK (Scotland and Northern Ireland have devolved NHS programmes but these are in line with England and Wales). There is no differentiation for women with or without HIV infection with respect to age at first invitation.

The increase in age of first invitation for cervical cytology to 25 years has created some controversy both within and further afield from the UK. Indeed, Scotland only recently (June 2017) increased the age of first invitation to 25 from 20 years. There is now general consensus, within the UK at least, that starting screening below the age of 25 confers greater risks than benefits. A full discussion of the summary evidence and references can be found within the NHSCSP Guideline [5]. Samples sent to NHS laboratories before a woman reaches the age of 24 years and 6 months without good clinical reason (i.e. not as a screening test in an asymptomatic woman alone) will be discarded by the laboratory and not processed.

Age of first invitation/recommendation for cervical cytology in the UK is at variance to that of the USA. For WLWH, US CDC guidelines currently recommend cervical screening from 1 year after sexarche, regardless of age at HIV diagnosis. There is no national co-ordinated programme of HPV vaccination for adolescents in the USA. CDC guidelines also recommend that after three consecutive normal annual cervical smears, screening interval can be extended to 3 years, a 2B recommendation. Further, CDC guidelines recommend that where Pap smear is normal and

hrHPV negative, the screening interval of 3 years can be applied after a single normal/negative result. This recommendation is based on evidence from two trials:

- The Women's Interagency HIV Study (WIHS) recruited 855 WLWH (mean age, 36 years) and 343 HIV-negative women (mean age, 34 years) with normal baseline cervical cytology during 1994-1995 and performed semi-annual Pap smears for a median of 7 years. This study demonstrated, for women with a negative HPV test, similar cumulative rates of cytological abnormalities in WLWH with CD4 greater than 500 (6%) and HIVnegative women (5%), however cumulative incidence of cytological abnormalities was higher in women with CD4 <200 or 200-500 (19% and 14%, respectively) [6].</li>
- 2) A second WIHS analysis enrolled 420 WLWH and 279 HIV-negative women with normal cervical cytology at baseline over 1 year (10/2001 to 09/2002) with follow-up through to 04/2011. Pap testing (and cervical biopsy if indicated) and HPV testing were performed semi-annually. The 5-year cumulative incidence of high-grade cytological and histological abnormality was similar in HIV-positive and -negative women with negative cytology and oncogenic HPV at enrolment. There was numerically higher cumulative incidence of any squamous intraepithelial lesions (SIL) in HIV-positive women with a CD4 <350 (25% vs 11% in women with CD4 350-499 and >500 and 6% in HIV-negative women) but rates of CIN-2 were low (5% in both groups) with no difference by CD4 count [7].

EACS guidelines recommend a cervical screening interval of 1-3 years but do not specify in whom the interval can be lengthened nor on what evidence this recommendation is based [8]. A Belgian cohort demonstrated reduced risk of persistent cervical hrHPV infection in WLWH women with sustained viral suppression for at least 40 months and sustained CD4 >500 for at least 18 months [9], In an, as yet unpublished, study the same group demonstrated a lower risk of cervical dysplasia in women with a CDd4 >350 compared to those with lower CD4, but there was no comparison with HIV-negative women [10].

Data suggest is that it may be time to revise the recommended interval of screening in WLWH who have a negative cytology result and whose CD4 count is maintained above 500. However, this recommendation should be made via the NHSCSP with appropriate supporting evidence and incorporated into the algorithms for screening and cytology management. If changes to any part of the cytology programme are made outwith the input of this overarching body, it is likely that coverage and appropriate screening of this particularly vulnerable group of women (WLWH) may be reduced or missed rather than improved.

There is evidence that in HIV positive women there is an increased risk of false negative cytology [11]. This may be ameliorated by the addition of HPV testing for HIV positive women, even if their cervical cytology is negative. This would be outside the current practice in the UK for the processing of cervical cytology where only samples showing borderline or low grade abnormality are further tested for HPV. Again, this should be something for the NHSCSP to consider and make appropriate recommendation to ensure translation into practice and consistency across the population.

# Multifocal disease

Women with HIV are more likely to have multifocal disease (HPV related intraepithelial neoplasia of multiple areas the ano-genital tract) than their non-HIV positive, immune-competent counterparts [12]. It is therefore especially important to enquire of WLWH whether they have any symptoms which might indicate multifocal disease (itch, irritation, soreness of the

anogenital region) and to inspect all of these areas at the time of cervical cytology sampling. Visible changes that may indicate intraepithelial disease include discoloration of the skin (darker or lighter than the surrounding skin), raised lesions especially if warty or having an irregular surface in appearance and these may warrant colposcopic examination and/ or anoscopy. It should be noted that women will not necessarily have a history of receptive anal sex even if there are disease changes towards the anal margin. Anal cancers may develop in WLWH and anoscopy may be required. Anal screening is still in the development stage but anal cytology may be considered in specialist settings.

# <u>Summary</u>

- We recommend annual cervical cytology from the age of 25 unless there is clinical concern (as per standard guidelines for age of first smear in HIV negative women); this may be revised in the near future with stratification according to CD4 count.
- UK advice regarding cervical cytology in WLWH is not aligned with that of the CDC in the USA but there are other significant variations in practice with respect to cervical cytology and the management of abnormal cervical cytology in the USA regardless of HIV status, not all of which are driven by the same evidence and motivators as in the UK.
- For women diagnosed with HIV after the age of 25, particularly those with previous cervical abnormalities or a long interval since last screening, colposcopic evaluation as well as cervical cytology should be offered where resources permit.
- Caring for WLWH can be complicated by reluctance to disclose HIV status, particularly to GPs where the majority of cervical screening takes place. Without the relevant clinical information on a cervical cytology request, a sample which appears to be outwith the normal screening interval may be rejected by the laboratory. If women are reluctant to divulge their HIV status, for whatever reason, to their GP then this may create additional vulnerability with respect to cervical screening. This should be flagged up with WLWH as an additional encouragement to inform their GP if they are reluctant to do so. As more restrictions are placed on hospital services with respect to provision of services to HIV positive people this becomes ever more important.

# REFERENCES

- 1. de Sanjose S, Quint WG, Alemany L, Geraets DT, Klaustermeier JE, Lloveras B, et al. Human papillomavirus genotype attribution in invasive cervical cancer: a retrospective cross-sectional worldwide study. Lancet Oncol. 2010;11(11):1048–56.
- 2. Panel on Opportunistic Infections in HIV-Infected Adults and Adolescents. Guidelines for the prevention and treatment of opportunistic infections in HIV-infected adults and adolescents: recommendations from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, the National Institutes of Health, and the HIV Medicine Association of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Available at <a href="http://aidsinfo.nih.gov/contentfiles/lvguidelines/adult\_oi.pdf">http://aidsinfo.nih.gov/contentfiles/lvguidelines/adult\_oi.pdf</a>. Accessed 25th January 2017
- Ginindza TG, Dlamini X, Almonte M et al. Prevalence of and Associated Risk Factors for High Risk Human Papillomavirus among Sexually Active Women, Swaziland. PLoS One. 2017;12(1):e0170189
- 4. <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/578729/HPV\_vaccinatio</u> <u>n- 2015-16.pdf accessed 20th August 2017</u>
- 5. <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/515817/NHSCSP\_colpos</u> <u>copy\_management.pdf accessed 20th August 2017</u>
- Harris TG, Burk RD, Palefsky JM, et al. Incidence of cervical squamous intraepithelial lesions associated with HIV serostatus, CD4 cell counts, and human papillomavirus test results. JAMA. Mar 23 2005;293(12):1471-1476
- 7. Keller MJ, Burk RD, Xie X, et al. Risk of cervical precancer and cancer among HIV-infected women with normal cervical cytology and no evidence of oncogenic HPV infection. JAMA. Jul 25 2012;308(4):362-369.
- 8. <u>http://www.eacsociety.org/files/guidelines\_8.2-english.pdf accessed 20th August 2017</u>

- 9. Konopnicki D, Manigart Y, Gilles C et al. Sustained viral suppression and higher CD4+ T-cell count reduces the risk of persistent cervical high-risk human papillomavirus infection in HIV-positive women. J Infect Dis. 2013;207(11):1723-9.
- 10. Konopnicki D, Manigart Y, Gilles C et al. Long lasting viral suppression and immune reconstitution of great magnitude reduce the risk of cervical dysplasia in HIV-positive women; abstract PS5/4
- Maiman M, Fruchter RG, Sedlis A et al. Prevalence, risk factors, and accuracy of cytologic screening for cervical intraepithelial neoplasia in women with the human immunodeficieny virus. *Gynecol Oncol*, 1998, 68: 233–239
- 12. Personal communication, Deborah Boyle, 20<sup>th</sup> August 2017

# Pre-conception advice & conception

# Recommendations

- Persons living with HIV should have access to accurate information and support around safe conception for themselves and their partners, involving their partners where appropriate to do so (GPP)
- Where a PLWH has not disclosed their HIV status they should be encouraged and supported to do so such that the best advice and management can be offered (GPP)
- We recommend documented discussion of reproductive plans in all PLWH with reproductive potential at baseline assessment & annually where appropriate (GPP)
- We suggest all services/networks have a named health care professional responsible for reproductive advice & signposting (GPP)
- We recommend pre-conception health promotion consistent with general guidance (GPP)

The marked improvement in the life expectancy of PLWH and low risk of vertical transmission mean fertility desires amongst PLWH are high, the majority expressing a desire to achieve pregnancy and have biological children [1-4]. Despite this, communication between patients and health providers about childbearing and safe conception is often inadequate and pregnancies amongst women are often unplanned [5-9]. HIV can itself be an important factor influencing HIV-affected women's reproductive choices [10].

There is a need to understand the reproductive and parenting choices made by people living with HIV. WLWH may have concerns regarding the risks of HIV transmission, delivery method and feeding options. One study identified two variables with a strong association with fertility desire: age less than 30 years and being childless [11]. In another cross-sectional study, the desire for pregnancy was associated with increased rates of intercourse, partner concurrency and unprotected sex with a non-concomitant partner, decreased condom use, and a high number of previous STIs [12]. The prevalence of unintended pregnancies is higher amongst this group and in a case note review of teenagers with HIV in London, 82% of pregnancies were found to be unplanned, with 65% of women reporting no contraception use, and an overall vertical transmission rate of HIV of 1.5% [13].

A lack of correct information and knowledge on safe conception coupled with a high desire to have biological children can reduce the practice of safer sex amongst couples affected by HIV, potentially risking transmission to HIV-negative partners or superinfection of HIV-positive partners [14]. However, the HPTN 052 [15], PARTNER [16] and Opposites Attract [17] trials demonstrated no onward transmissions to HIV-negative partners when the HIV-positive partner was on suppressive ART. These studies should be discussed with all patients at an early stage to maximise their chance of achieving a successful and safe pregnancy. Serodifferent couples (i.e where one partner is la PLWH and the other is HIV-negative) where the HIV-positive partner is on suppressive ART can be counselled that conception through timed unprotected sexual intercourse (UPSI) is an appropriate and safe option. Where the HIV-positive partner is not on ART or not suppressed, this should be reviewed, ART offered/optimised as appropriate and the risks of onward transmission to the negative partner discussed.

Some studies have demonstrated an inverse association between HIV and fertility [18,19] which may increase the demand for fertility treatment in PLWH. A study of WLWH undergoing IVF demonstrated lower success rates in WLWH than HIV-negative controls due to a reduced

response to ovarian stimulation [20]. However, no difference in IVF outcome was noted in WLWH undergoing ovum donation, suggesting an impact of HIV on ovarian response and reserve rather than implantation. Retrospective data from Sub-Saharan Africa [21,22] and prospective data from the UK suggest an increased incidence of tubal infertility in WLWH [23]. For these reasons, couples trying to conceive should be referred for fertility evaluation if they have not conceived within 6-12 months of self-insemination or UPSI. Earlier referral should be made if there is a history of pelvic inflammatory disease or they are over 35 years of age.

Some PLWH may face negative attitudes regarding their choice to become a parent. Challenging stigma, both in the community and amongst some healthcare professional is an ongoing concern [24]. Reproductive counseling should be an integral part of modern HIV care and should be provided routinely to all PLWH in order to assist independent and safe reproductive decision making. It is recommended that every HIV clinic has a dedicated clinician available to discuss matters in detail with patients and provide them with appropriate advice and guidance in a timely manner.

# Pre conception advice

All couples who wish to conceive where one or both partners are HIV-positive should receive detailed reproductive counseling prior to attempted conception or fertility treatment. This is to facilitate an informed choice about their reproductive options, the inherent risks and costs of any treatment that might be required and the likely chances of success.

The main objectives in offering reproductive advice to couples affected by HIV are to assist them in achieving a successful pregnancy while minimising the risk of viral transmission to the uninfected partner and future child.

# **Methods of Conception**

The preferred method of conception may vary according to:

- HIV status of couple:
  - Sero-different
  - Both HIV-positive
- Treatment status of the person living with HIV
  - If not already on treatment, PLWH should commence Treatment as Prevention (TasP) (see below), even if both members of the couple are HIVpositive.
- The HIV viral load of PLWH
  - If suppressed (below limit of detection) for at least 6 months and there is no evidence of a sexually transmitted infection, timed (with ovulation) condomless sex may be recommended; see later discussion on preexposure prophylaxis for Conception (PrEP-C)
  - If detectable HIV-RNA despite optimal ART and partner HIV-negative, consider PrEP-C, self-insemination or assisted conception (including sperm washing) as appropriate
- The fertility of both members of the couple
  - If either member of the couple has reduced fertility, assisted reproduction techniques may be required to achieve pregnancy

Different conception options will be discussed further in section in the following section.

# **Pre-pregnancy health**

Folic acid supplementation (400mcg daily) should be commenced ideally prior to conception or as soon as pregnancy is achieved. If the mother is on folate antagonists such as co-trimoxazole, or has other indications as per NICE guidelines [25] folic acid should be given at an increased dose of 5mg and continued throughout pregnancy. Health care professionals should also be aware of other current guidelines relevant to pre-pregnancy health including general advice [26] and vitamin D supplementation [26]

Lifestyle advice regarding alcohol consumption, smoking, use of recreational drugs and ideal weight should be given prior to conception to both prospective parents or as soon as the pregnancy is known. Sexual health screens are also recommended for both the partners prior to any attempts at conception.

Women who need antiretroviral treatment for their own health, should be commenced on a regimen that is most suitable for them. In women with very low CD4 counts (<200), it is preferable to defer pregnancy until virological suppression and immune reconstitution are attained to minimise exposure to drugs used to treat and prevent opportunistic conditions and to reduce the risk of the mother developing HIV-related complications during pregnancy. The subsequent improvement in the general health of the HIV infected woman is also likely to increase chances of conception and a successful pregnancy.

# REFERENCES

- 1. Asfaw HM & Gashe FE. Fertility intentions among HIV positive women aged 18-49 years in Addis Ababa Ethiopia: a cross sectional study. Reprod Health 2014;11:36.
- 2. Berhan Y & Berhan A. Meta-analyses of fertility desires of people living with HIV. BMC Public Health. 2013;13:409.
- Rhodes CM, Cu-Uvin S, Rana AI. Pregnancy Desire, Partner Serodiscordance, and Partner HIV Disclosure among Reproductive Age HIV-Infected Women in an Urban Clinic. Infect Dis Obstet Gynecol. 2016;2016:8048457.
- Hartley, A., S. Ellis, et al. (2014). "Pregnancy intentions and outcomes within a large urban HIV clinic." HIV Medicine 15: 60-61.
- 5. Cooper D, Moodley J, Zweigenthal V, Bekker LG, Shah I, Myer L. Fertility intentions and reproductive health care needs of people living with HIV in Cape Town, South Africa: implications for integrating reproductive health and HIV care services. AIDS Behav. 2009;13 Suppl 1:38-46.
- 6. Loutfy MR, Blitz S, Zhang Y et al. Self-reported preconception care of HIV-positive women of reproductive potential: A retrospective study. J Int Assoc Provid AIDS Care. 2014;13(5):424-33.
- 7. Mindry D, Wagner G, Lake J et al. Fertility desires among HIV-infected men and women in Los Angeles County: client needs and provider perspectives. Matern Child Health J. 2013;17(4):593-600.
- 8. Finocchario-Kessler S, Bastos FI, Malta M et al. Discussing childbearing with HIV-infected women of reproductive age in clinical care: a comparison of Brazil and the US. AIDS Behav. 2012;16(1):99-107.
- 9. Finocchario-Kessler S, Dariotis JK, Sweat MD et al. Do HIV-infected women want to discuss reproductive plans with providers, and are those conversations occurring? AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2010;24(5):317-23.
- 10. Bedimo-Rung AL, Clark AR, Dumestre J, Rice J, Kissinger P. Reproductive decision-making among HIV-Infected women. J Natl Med Assoc. 2005;97(10):1403-10.
- 11. Nostlinger C, Desjardins F, Dec J et al. Child desire in women and men living with HIV attending HIV outpatient clinics: evidence from a European multicentre study. Eur J Contracept Reprod Health Care. 2013;18(4):251-63.
- 12. Finger J L, Clum GA, Trent ME et al. Desire for pregnancy and risk behavior in young HIV-positive women. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2012;26(3):173-80.
- 13. Elgalib A, Hegazi A, Samarawickrama A et al. Pregnancy in HIV-infected teenagers in London. HIV Med. 2011 Feb;12(2):118-23

- 14. Awolude, O., A. Oladokun, et al. (2009). "Fertility desire and unsafe sexual practice among people living with HIV." International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics 107: S112-S113
- 15. Cohen MS, Chen YQ, McCauley M, et al. Prevention of HIV-1 infection with early antiretroviral therapy. N Engl J Med 2011;365:493-505. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1105243.
- Rodger AJ, Cambiano V, Bruun T et al. Sexual Activity Without Condoms and Risk of HIV Transmission in Serodifferent Couples When the HIV-Positive Partner Is Using Suppressive Antiretroviral Therapy. JAMA. 2016 Jul 12;316(2):171-81.
- 17. Bavington B, Grinsztejn B, Phanuphak N et al. HIV treatment prevents HIV transmission in male serodiscordant couples in Australia, Thailand and Brazil.
- <u>http://programme.ias2017.org/Abstract/Abstract/5469</u> accessed 20th August 2017
   Bunderson E, Kudesia R, et al. (2013). "Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) & infertility in sub-saharan Africa." Fertility and Sterility 100(3 SUPPL. 1): S321.
- 19. Camlin CS, Garenne M & Moultrie TA. Fertility trend and pattern in a rural area of South Africa in the context of HIV/AIDS. African Journal of Reproductive Health 2004; 8(2): 38-54.
- 20. Coll O, Fiore S, Floridia M et al. Pregnancy and HIV infection: A European consensus on management. AIDS 2002; 16(suppl 2): S1-S18.
- 21. Brunham RC, Cheang M, McMaster J, Garnett G, Anderson R. Chlamydia trachomatis, infertility, and population growth in sub-Saharan Africa. Sex Transm Dis 1993; 20(3): 168-73.
- 22. Brunham RC, Garnett GP, Swinton J, Anderson RM. Gonococcal infection and human fertility in sub-Saharan Africa. Proc Biol Sci 1991; 246(1316): 173-7.
- 23. Frodsham LCG, Barton S and Gilling-Smith C, Human immunodeficiency virus infection and fertility care in the United Kingdom demand and supply. Fert Steril, 2006. 85: 285-289
- 24. K McDonald. 'The old-fashioned way': conception and sex in serodiscordant relationships after ART. Culture, health & sexuality, 2011
- 25. <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/PH11/chapter/4-Recommendations#folic-acid-2</u> accessed 20<sup>th</sup> August 2017
- 26. <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph11</u> accessed 20<sup>th</sup> August 2017
- 27. <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph56</u> accessed 20<sup>th</sup> August 2017

# Antiretroviral therapy: impact on transmission & conception

#### **Recommendations: Treatment as Prevention**

- It is recommended that all individuals diagnosed with HIV should commence treatment with antiretroviral therapy (ART) as per BHIVA Adult Treatment Guidelines
- The evidence that treatment with ART lowers the risk of transmission should be discussed with all PLWH, and an assessment of the current risk of transmission to others made at the time of this discussion (GPP)
- We recommend that heterosexual PLWH with sustained viral suppression (at least 6 months) and high adherence to ART can be advised there is no risk of onward transmission of HIV to others (1A)
- We recommend that when serodifferent heterosexual couples wish to conceive the HIV-positive partner be on fully suppressive ART (1A)
- We recommend that MSM living with HIV with sustained viral suppression (at least 6 months) and high adherence to ART can be advised there is no risk of onward transmission of HIV to others (2A)
- If the decision to start ART is being driven primarily by transmission risk it should be the HIV-positive individual's choice and must not be due to pressure from partners or others. High and consistent adherence to ART is required to maintain viral suppression and minimise transmission risk (GPP)
- It is recommended that the plasma viral load should be suppressed for ≥ 6 months before timed condomless sex to achieve conception is undertaken (GPP).

# **Recommendations: ART in women**

- We recommended WLWH start ART in line with BHIVA treatment guidelines (1A)
- We recommend women wishing to conceive be offered ART if not already on a suppressive regimen (1A)

# Treatment as prevention

The initial evidence base for treatment to reduce transmission was based on a number of cohort studies that found that transmission between heterosexual couples where the HIV-positive partner had an undetectable or low viral load on treatment was very rare or did not occur [1-5]. This was followed by high quality evidence from a randomised controlled trial (HPTN 052) [6] demonstrating a 96% reduction in the risk of onward HIV transmission to negative partners when the HIV-positive person received ART. HPTN 052 is supported by the secondary outcomes of the earlier Partners in Prevention trial [7] that demonstrated a 92% reduction in onward transmission with effective ART. It is important to note that 97% of the couples in HPTN 052 and all participants in Partners in Prevention were heterosexual so are highly relevant for couples wishing to conceive.

More recently, the PARTNER study demonstrated a protective effect of viral suppression in serodifferent couples where the PLWH is on suppressive ART (viral load < 200 copies/mL). Among serodifferent heterosexual and MSM couples followed for 1238 couple years in which the HIV-positive partner had viral suppression on ART, during which time there were 58,000 condomless sex acts, there were zero incidences of within-couple HIV transmission. The estimated rate of transmission was thus estimated to be zero (upper 95% confidence limit 0.3 / 100 couple years of follow-up) [8]. More recently the Opposites Attract study amongst MSM in

Australia, Thailand and Brazil demonstrated no cases of HIV transmission in serodifferent partnerships where the positive person was on suppressive ART [9]. Combining the PARTNER and Opposites Attract results show no HIV transmission after more than 40,000 condomless anal sex acts in MSM where the positive partner is on suppressive ART.

PLWH should be informed that taking ART does not result in immediate viral suppression. Most individuals commencing ART achieve viral suppression by 3–6 months. PLWH should also be informed about the possibility of virological failure leading to transmission of HIV and the importance of adherence to ART.

Decisions on having condomless sex should always be based on a recent viral load test result and not on an assumption that taking ART implies non-infectiousness.

For heterosexual couples wishing to conceive, suppressive ART expands the choices available. Condomless sex around the time of ovulation (timed ovulatory condomless sex, TOCS) carries **no risk** provided the HIV-positive partner has a durably suppressed viral load. However, if couples have not conceived after 6 cycles of timed condomless sex we suggest referral to a fertility specialist.

# ART and Women

Data on the impact of suppressive ART on fertility is conflicting. Prospective cohort data from the US suggests that ART is associated with a lower likelihood of conception whereas a large study of over 4,500 women in Africa reported higher pregnancy rates among women on ART (9.0/100 person years vs 6.5/100 person years) [10,11]. It is clear however that progression of HIV is associated with decreased pregnancy and live birth rates [12]. Therefore, in women with CD4 counts <200 cells/mm<sup>3</sup> who have previously declined treatment with ART but who wish to conceive, commencing ART may increase the chance of conception and would be recommended.

Women starting treatment for HIV should commence standard suppressive ART as per BHIVA Adult Treatment Guidelines with preferential selection of ARVs with Antiretroviral Pregnancy Registry data supporting safety [13].

#### **HIV Superinfection**

Superinfection occurs when a PLWH is infected with a strain of HIV they do not already have. Superinfection may occur with wild-type or resistant virus but, based on data in serodifferent couples, is not a concern if both members of the couple are on suppressive ART [14,15]. For serosame couples attempting to conceive through unprotected intercourse, there are no conclusive data on the overall risk of superinfection. In fact, there is little data available to accurately predict the risk of superinfection in any PLWH but small cohort studies of MSM failed to show any evidence of superinfection although there is one report of an MSM on fully suppressive ART who was superinfected with a multiresistant strain of HIV [16].

# Additional information on conception methods

# 1. Natural conception – timed ovulatory condomless sex (TOCS)

Conceiving through timed condomless sex (CS) was previously not recommended for conception in couples where one or both partners is/are HIV-positive. Based on HPTN 052 and PARTNER TOCS can be recommended if the HIV viral load of the positive partner(s) is <50c/ml for >6

months and their adherence is good, and there are no concomitant STI in either partner. It is important therefore to have an open discussion with the couple about the data that informs this decision.

# 2. Sperm washing

Sperm washing is the process where the HIV negative female partner is inseminated with the HIV positive partner's sperm, centrifuged first to separate spermatozoa from seminal fluid and associated non-sperm cells. It was first described in 1992 in Italy [17].

A recent systematic review and meta-analysis of forty single-arm open-label studies among HIVdifferent couples that underwent intrauterine insemination (IUI) or in vitro fertilization (IVF) with or without intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) using washed semen has shown zero HIV transmission in 11,585 cycles of assisted reproduction among 3,994 women [18-20]. Among the subset of HIV-infected men without plasma viral suppression at the time of semen washing, no HIV seroconversions occurred among 1,023 women after 2,863 cycles of assisted reproduction with the use of washed semen. Studies that measured HIV transmission to infants reported no cases of vertical transmission. Overall, 56.3% of couples (2,357/4,184) achieved a clinical pregnancy with the use of washed semen.

Sperm washing is only available in certain parts of the country and often requires additional funding requests (IFRs) for treatment to proceed; clinics should be aware of localservices and pathways. NICE fertility guidelines do not recommend sperm washing over timed condomless sex where the HIV positive male has a VL <50c/ml for at least 6 months and high reported adherence, unless there is coinfection with Hepatitis B or C. It may also be considered where the couple wishing to conceive are not partners.

# 3. Self-insemination

Where a couple are concerned that having TOCS may increase any risk of HIV transmission should sex be traumatic couples can be advised to time ovulation and to have protected sex using a nonspermicidal condom. Sperm can then be extracted from the condom using a syringe or pipette and inserted into the woman's vagina for release of sperm. For friends wishing to conceive naturally together the male is advised to ejaculate into a sterile cup from which sperm can be drawn as above and given to the female for release of sperm into the vagina.

# 4. Sperm donor for HIV positive women

This is an option for WLWH who wish to become a parent on their own, for those in a same sex relationship and for those whose partner has male factor infertility. The safest and most reliable way of obtaining sperm from a donor is via a clinic that is licensed, inspected and regulated by the Human Fertilisation and Embryology Authority (HFEA). The Authority is the UK's independent regulator of treatment using eggs, sperm and embryos. Baseline fertility tests in the woman planning to conceive could be considered especially if over 35 years of age.

# 5. Adoption

Adoption or fostering is an option for PLWH, which they may wish to consider on alone or with a partner. Although considered an undesirable factor, HIV does not automatically exclude one from being approved to be an adoptive parent, but as in the case of any other chronic illness, one's health and circumstances would need to be assessed to ensure the child's needs can be met. It is likely that the patient's HIV physician will be asked to produce a report commenting on the stability of the person's HIV infection and their presumed life expectancy.

	Positive Woman, Negative Man	Positive Man, Negative Woman	Positive Woman, Positive Man	Positive Man Negative Woman (not partner)
ART	Recommended but not essential if using Al	Recommended	Recommended for both	Recommended with Al
Timed Ovulatory Condomless Sex	Recommended only if VL <50c/ml	Recommended only if VL <50c/ml	Recommended unless one or both partner detectable HIV- RNA + discordant resistance	Not recommended
PrEP for Conception	Consider if HIV- positive partner's HIV-RNA not suppressed	Consider if HIV- positive partner's HIV-RNA not suppressed	Not recommended	Consider if HIV-positive partner's HIV- RNA not suppressed
Artificial insemination using non spermicidal condoms	Recommended	Not applicable	Not applicable	Recommended
Sperm washing	Not recommended	Not recommended unless detectable HIV-RNA (although suppressive ART first choice)	Not recommended	Consider
Sperm donor	Consider if male subfertility	Consider if male subfertility	Consider if male subfertility	Consider if male subfertility
Egg donor	Consider if female subfertility	Consider if female subfertility	Consider if female subfertility	Consider

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Castilla J, Del Romero J, Hernando V *et al.* Effectiveness of highly active antiretroviral therapy in reducing heterosexual transmission of HIV. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2005; 40: 96–101.
- 2. Del Romero J, Castilla J, Hernando V *et al.* Combined antiretroviral treatment and heterosexual transmission of HIV---1: cross sectional and prospective cohort study. *BMJ* 2010; 340: c2205.
- 3. Melo M, Varella I, Nielsen K *et al.* Demographic characteristics, sexual transmission and CD4 progression among heterosexual HIV---serodiscordant couples followed in Porto Alegre, Brazil. *16th International AIDS Conference*. August 2006. Toronto, Canada. Abstract TUPE0430.
- 4. Attia S, Egger M, Muller M *et al.* Sexual transmission of HIV according to viral load and antiretroviral therapy: systematic review and meta---analysis. *AIDS* 2009; 23: 1397–1404.
- 5. Barreiro P, del Romero J, Leal M *et al.* Natural pregnancies in HIV---serodiscordant couples receiving successful antiretroviral therapy. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2006; 43: 324–326.
- Cohen MS, Chen YQ, McCauley M *et al.* Prevention of HIV---1 infection with early antiretroviral therapy. N Engl J Med 2011; 365: 493–505.
- 7. Donnell D, Baeten JM, Kiarie J *et al.* Heterosexual HIV-1 transmission after initiation of antiretroviral therapy: a prospective cohort analysis. *Lancet* 2010; 375: 2092–2098.
- Rodger AJ, Cambiano V, Bruun T et al. Sexual Activity Without Condoms and Risk of HIV Transmission in Serodifferent Couples When the HIV-Positive Partner Is Using Suppressive Antiretroviral Therapy. JAMA. 2016 Jul 12;316(2):171-81.
- 9. Bavington B, Grinsztejn B, Phanuphak N et al. HIV treatment prevents HIV transmission in male serodiscordant couples in Australia, Thailand and Brazil. http://programme.ias2017.org/Abstract/Abstract/5469 accessed 20th August 2017
- 10. Massad LS, Springer G, Jacobson L, Watts H, Anastos K, Korn A, Cejtin H, Stek A, Young M, Schmidt J, Minkoff H. Pregnancy rates and predictors of conception, miscarriage and abortion in US women with HIV. AIDS. 2004 Jan 23;18(2):281–6. [PubMed]
- 11. Myer L, Carter RJ, Katyal M, Toro P, El-Sadr WM, Abrams EJ. Impact of antiretroviral therapy on incidence of pregnancy among HIV-infected women in Sub-Saharan Africa: a cohort study. PLoS Med. 2010;9;7(2):e1000229. [PMC free article] [PubMed]
- 12. Sedgh G, Larsen U, Spiegelman D, Msamanga G and Fawzi WW (2005) HIV-1 disease progression and fertility in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 39,439–445.
- 13. <u>http://www.apregistry.com</u>. Last accessed Jun 2016.
- 14. Chakraborty B et al. *Evaluating HIV-1 superinfection in cell culture, the SCID-hu Thy/Liv model and HIV-infected individuals with high risk of re-exposure to the virus*. Antivir Ther 7: S47, 2002.
- 15. Shafer RW et al. *Failure to detect HIV-1 re-infection based on serial protease and reverse transcriptase sequences during 1239 patient years observation.* Antivir Ther 7: S149, 2002.
- 16. Buskin SE et al. *Transmission cluster of highly drug-resistant HIV-1 among 9 men who have sex with men in Seattle/King County, WA, 2005 2007.* J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 49: 205-212, 2008.
- 17. Semprini AE, Levi-Setti P, Bozzo M *et al*. Insemination of HIV-negative women with processed semen of HIV-positive partners. *Lancet* 1992; 340: 1317–1319.
- Zafer M, Horvath H, Mmeje O, van der Poel S, Semprini AE, Rutherford G, Brown J. Effectiveness of semen washing to prevent human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) transmission and assist pregnancy in HIV-discordant couples: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Fertil Steril. 2016 Mar;105(3):645-655.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2015.11.028. Epub 2015 Dec 11.
- 19. Kim LU, Johnson MR, Barton S *et al*. Evaluation of sperm washing as a potential method of reducing HIV transmission in HIV-discordant couples wishing to have children. *AIDS* 1999; 13: 645–651.
- 20. Nicopoullos JDM, Vourliotis M, Wood R, Almeida P, Gilling-Smith C. A decade of the sperm-washing program: *where are we now? Proceedings of British Fertility Society, Edinburgh*. Hum Fertility 2009; 12: 215.

# Pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) and pre-exposure-prophylaxis for conception (PrEP-C)

# Recommendations

- We do not recommend PrEP-C where the positive partner has been undetectable on HIV treatment for >6 months [1A]
- We suggest in exceptional situations PrEP-C may be used [GPP]
- PrEP-C may be discussed with heterosexual women or men whose partners have HIV infection (serodifferent couples) as one of several options to protect the uninfected partner during attempts to conceive [GPP]
- The potential risk and benefits of PrEP-C to mother and foetus should be discussed so that an informed decision can be made [GPP]

The evidence that effective treatment with ART lowers the risk of transmission to negligible levels is outlined in the section above. Despite all this evidence, it is currently not possible to state that the absolute risk of transmission when the plasma viral load is undetectable is **definitely zero**, although the data are very reassuring. The prospect for some individuals embarking on condomless sex for the purposes of conception, however, may cause anxiety, particularly when considering reports that genital tract viraemia can persist despite undetectable plasma viral load [1]. Some couples may request PrEP-C as an additional "safety net" but should be reassured that there have been zero transmissions from PLWH on suppressive ART and PrEP is not indicated.

Recent results from clinical trials have made it clear that PrEP is highly effective as part of a comprehensive package of biomedical prevention tools. Ten randomised controlled trials have reported on the use of pre-exposure prophylaxis, five providing evidence for the effectiveness of daily oral tenofovir-DF [2,3] or tenofovir-DF/emtricitabine [4,5,6] and one for tenofovir-DF/emtricitabine taken before and after sex (event-driven PrEP) [7]. Effectiveness for oral tenofovir-DF-based regimens has been demonstrated in MSM [4,5,7], heterosexual serodifferent couples [2], young heterosexual adults [6] and injecting drug users [3]. Two randomised placebo controlled trials conducted in women in Sub-Saharan Africa observed no benefit for daily oral tenofovir-DF, daily oral tenofovir-DF/emtricitabine or daily tenofovir-DF 1% vaginal gel [8,9]; the discrepant results for these trials are explained by low levels of adherence - less than a third of women on the active arms had detectable drug at the first study visit.

Tenofovir-DF-DF has been used in pregnant HIV positive women for more than 10 years and has featured on the Antiretroviral Pregnancy Registry since 2009 [10] with a reported foetal anomaly rate of 61/2779 first trimester exposures to tenofovir-DF (2.20%, 95% CI 1.68-2.82%) as of January 2016. Emtricitabine has a reported foetal anomaly rate of 48/2145 first trimester exposures (2.24%, CI 1.65-2.96%); tha background risk of abnormality is 2-3%. Data on the impact of PrEP on pregnancy incidence and outcomes is available from the Partners PrEP Study [2]. In this large study, in which 431 pregnancies occurred, daily oral tenofovir-DF or daily tenofovir-DF/emtricitabine were efficacious for HIV prevention. Differences in pregnancy incidence were not statistically different for women receiving tenofovir-DF alone or tenofovir-DF/emtricitabine compared with placebo at conception [11]. Birth outcomes (live births, pregnancy loss, preterm birth, congenital anomalies), and infant growth were measured and differences in women receiving PrEP compared with those receiving placebo at conception were not statistically different. Given that PrEP was discontinued when pregnancy was detected and that confidence intervals for the birth outcomes were wide, definitive statements about the safety of PrEP in the peri-conception period cannot be made.

It is important to note that PrEP-C is an unlicensed, experimental treatment within the UK. There are no randomised controlled trials to substantiate that this is a safe or effective method of preventing HIV transmission to the negative partner when trying to conceive in HIV serodifferent couples. In 2011 Vernazza *et al* [12] published data on 53 women receiving pre-exposure prophylaxis with oral TDF at the time of attempted conception. All women were HIV-negative three months after last exposure. Pregnancy rates were high and reached a plateau of 75% after six cycles. Data has also been published on the use of PrEP-C in UK clinics using a similar regimen to that utilised by Vernazza *et al*, again with no HIV transmissions [13]. There is, however, no evidence to show that when the HIV-positive partner is on suppressive ART there is any *additional* protective benefit from the use of PrEP-C.

A statistical model was developed to estimate the benefits of PrEP-C as an adjunctive HIV prevention method during attempted conception between HIV-negative women and HIV-positive men [14]. Variables included: whether the positive partner received ART, maternal age, fertility issues and use of PrEP-C. The model highlighted that in most scenarios PrEP provides little added benefit if all of the following are true: the HIV-positive man is receiving suppressive ART; unprotected sex is limited to the period of ovulation and STIs are diagnosed and treated in both partners.

Ideally couples who are planning to conceive should be seen by clinicians with a particular interest in HIV preconception. There should be access to and, where appropriate, referral to sexual health testing facilities, HIV clinical nurse specialists and fertility services as per BHIVA standards [15]. Couples seeking PrEP-C should be counselled extensively together and separately prior to embarking on PrEP-C to ensure both partners understand all the issues and are willing participants in the treatment. Couples should also be informed that PrEP-C does not guarantee that HIV transmission will not occur and clear documentation of this conversation should be made. It must be made clear that in the very unlikely event that male-to-female HIV transmission should occur during conception the onward risk of transmission to the foetus may be up to 18% [16]. Condoms should be recommended between the end of the fertile period and the next menses.

There are a range of dosing options for administering PrEP-C ranging from peri-conception Truvada which minimises antiretroviral exposure versus continuous daily Truvada, which will achieve higher drug levels but may have implications for cost and toxicity.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Taylor S, Sadiq ST, Weller I, Kaye S, Workman J, Cane PA, Bennett J, Copas AJ, Drake SM, Pillay D. Drugresistant HIV-1 in the semen of men receiving antiretroviral therapy with acute sexually transmitted infections. Antivir Ther. 2003 Oct;**8**(5):479-83.
- 2. Baeten JM, Donnell D, Ndase P, Mugo NR, Campbell JD, Wangisi J, et al. Antiretroviral prophylaxis for HIV prevention in heterosexual men and women. New England Journal of Medicine. 2012;367(5):399-410.
- Choopanya K, Martin M, Suntharasamai P, Sangkum U, Mock PA, Leethochawalit M, et al. Antiretroviral prophylaxis for HIV infection in injecting drug users in Bangkok, Thailand (the Bangkok Tenofovir-DF Study): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial. The Lancet. 2013;381(9883):2083-90.
- 4. McCormack S, Dunn DT, Desai M, Dolling DI, Gafos M, Gilson R, et al. Pre-exposure prophylaxis to prevent the acquisition of HIV-1 infection (PROUD): effectiveness results from the pilot phase of a pragmatic openlabel randomised trial. Lancet. 2016;387(10013):53-60.
- 5. Grant RM, Lama JR, Anderson PL, McMahan V, Liu AY, Vargas L, et al. Preexposure chemoprophylaxis for HIV prevention in men who have sex with men. New England Journal of Medicine. 2010;363(27):2587-99.

- 6. Thigpen MC, Kebaabetswe PM, Paxton LA, Smith DK, Rose CE, Segolodi TM, et al. Antiretroviral preexposure prophylaxis for heterosexual HIV transmission in Botswana. New England Journal of Medicine. 2012;367(5):423-34.
- Molina J, Capitant C, Spire B, Pialoux G, Chidiac C, Charreau I, et al., editors. On demand PrEP with oral TDF-FTC in MSM: results of the ANRS Ipergay trial. Conference on Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections; 2015.
- 8. Van Damme L, Corneli A, Ahmed K, Agot K, Lombaard J, Kapiga S, et al. Preexposure prophylaxis for HIV infection among African women. New England Journal of Medicine. 2012;367(5):411-22.
- Marrazzo JM, Ramjee G, Richardson BA, Gomez K, Mgodi N, Nair G, et al. Tenofovir-DF-based preexposure prophylaxis for HIV infection among African women. New England Journal of Medicine. 2015;372(6):509-18.
- 10. <u>http://www.apregistry.com/forms/interim\_report.pdf</u> (last updated Jun 2016).
- Mugo NR, Hong T, Celum C, Donnell D, Bukusi EA, John-Stewart G, Wangisi J, Were E, Heffron R, Matthews LT, Morrison S, Ngure K, Baeten JM; Partners PrEP Study Team. <u>Pregnancy incidence and outcomes among</u> <u>women receiving preexposure prophylaxis for HIV prevention: a randomized clinical trial.</u> JAMA. 2014 Jul 23-30;312(4):362-71. doi: 10.1001/jama.2014.8735.
- 12. Vernazza PL, Graf I, Sonnenberg-Schwan U, Geit M, Meurer A. Pre-exposure Prophylaxis and Timed Intercourse for HIV-discordant Couples Willing to Conceive a Child. AIDS. 2011; 25 (16): 2005-2008.
- 13. Whetham J, Taylor S, Charlwood L, Keith T, Howell R, McInnes C, Payne E, Home J, White D, Gilleece Y. <u>Pre-exposure prophylaxis for conception (PrEP-C) as a risk reduction strategy in HIV-positive men and HIV-negative women in the UK.</u> AIDS Care. 2014; 26(3):332-6.
- 14. Hoffman RM, Jaycocks A, Vardavas R, Wagner G, Lake JE, Mindry D, Currier JS, Landovitz RJ. Benefits of PrEP as an Adjunctive Method of HIV Prevention During Attempted Conception Between HIV-uninfected Women and HIV-infected Male Partners. JID. 2015; 212(10):1534-43.
- 15. BHIVA Standards
- 16. Taha T, James, M, Hoover, D. *et al*. Association of recent HIV infection and in-utero HIV-1 transmission. AIDS. 2011, **25**:1357–1364.

# Investigations in couples affected by HIV, trying to conceive through UPSI.

For those couples who decide on UPSI, a minimum of hormone analysis for the female partner to look into ovulatory function, and a semen analysis for the male partner is recommended before they have any attempts at unprotected sex. Along with these, it is recommended that they also have baseline STI screens and serology as following.

	For the woman	For the man		
Bloo	d Tests	Blood Tests		
1.	HIV	1. HIV		
2.	Hepatitis B	2. Hepatitis B		
3.	Hepatitis C	3. Hepatitis C		
4.	Syphilis	4. Syphilis		
5.	FSH, LH and Oestradiol days 2-5 of cycle			
6.	Progesterone 7 days before expected			
	day of next period			
7.	Prolactin & thyroid function if history of			
	amenorrhoea/oligomenorrhoea			
8.	Rubella serology			
STI S	creen and Microscopy	STI Screen		
1.	Vulvovaginal chlamydia NAAT	1. Urine chlamydia NAAT		
2.	Vulvovaginal gonorrhoea NAAT	2. Urine gonorrhoea NAAT		
<b>.</b>	Trichomoniasis (if symptomatic)			

Couples where the female partner is < 35 years old, should be advised to try for 6 – 12 months and those in whom the woman is > 35 years old, for 6 months. If the couple fails to conceive after this time period, the patient should be referred to fertility services for further investigations, for example, in women, a pelvic ultrasound, and tubal patency tests and in men, semen analysis. Semen analysis is recommended above as a standard base-line test in any couple embarking on UPSI (If normal no need to repeat). If the semen analysis result is abnormal it should be repeated at least 3 months later to confirm abnormality (to allow time for spermatozoa formation). However, if there is a gross spermatozoa deficiency (azoospermia or severe oligozoospermia) the test should be repeated as soon as possible.

Following completion of these investigations, couples, in whom fertility treatment or sperm washing is warranted, should be referred to the closest centre which offers such treatment to couples where one or more partner are HIV positive.

# **Contraception for Women with HIV**

#### Recommendations

- We recommend all contraceptive options be discussed with WLWH (GPP)
- HIV infection per se is not a barrier to any form of contraception (GPP)
- We recommend taking a contraceptive history at every visit (GPP)
- We recommend that where ART is a barrier to the optimal method of contraception, due to the impact of drug-drug interactions on hormonal contraceptive efficacy, and reasonable ART alternatives exist, ART be switched (GPP)
- The efficacy of DMPA, LNG-IUS and Cu-IUD are largely unaffected by drug-drug interactions with ART, and offer very effective contraception
- Consistent condom use should be encouraged in conjunction with an additional contraception method for optimal contraception, STI prevention and prevention of HIV transmission depending on sexual history/HIV status of partner(s) and whether on suppressive ART
- For WLWH not on ART, all available contraceptive methods are suitable, although nonoxinol-9 spermicide should be avoided if partner(s) HIV-negative
- For women on liver enzyme inducing ART: a Cu-IUD is the recommended method of emergency contraception except in women ith a CD4 less than 200 and detectable HIV-RNA. If POEC is used, a doubling of the standard dose of Levonelle<sup>®</sup> to 3mg stat is recommended

# Introduction

These contraception guidelines are an adjunct to existing Faculty of Sexual & Reproductive Healthcare (FSRH) documents, which provide evidence based guidance on a variety of contraceptive methods (<u>www.fsrh.org</u>). In addition, the Clinical Effectiveness Unit of FSRH has produced the 2016 UK Medical Eligibility Criteria for Contraceptive Use (UKMEC)<sup>1</sup>, an adaptation of WHO Medical Eligibility Criteria (WHOMEC), and classify a range of medical conditions (including HIV) into eligibility categories, by contraceptive type (See table 2). The UKMEC categories were updated in 2016, and recommendations for WLWH are summarised in tables 3 and 4. UKMEC recommendations are based on safety rather than efficacy, so it is important to consider that drug interactions with certain ART may reduce efficacy despite the contraceptive method being safe to use. Please check the FSRH website (<u>www.fsrh.org</u>) for updates.

#### Provision of contraception advice

WLWH requiring contraception should be given information, both verbal and written, about all methods of contraception and be supported to make an informed choice. They should be provided with the most effective suitable method of contraception that is acceptable to them. Counselling should be sensitive to cultural differences and religious beliefs. Women should be informed when contraceptives are used outside the product license and there should be clear written documentation in the notes as to why this is necessary.

Most available methods of contraception can be considered in WLWH and are safe and effective, however, special considerations need to be made in women on or about to commence ART due to the potential risk of drug-drug interactions that may impair contraceptive efficacy, or with CD4 count <200 cells/mm<sup>3</sup>.

All women being considered for contraception should have an appropriate medical history taken as part of routine assessment and appropriate reference made to UKMEC criteria. Risk of transmission of HIV and other sexually transmitted infections (STIs) must also be discussed when recommending or prescribing contraception.

# **Barrier methods**

Barrier methods include male condoms (latex or non-latex), female condoms (nitrile or latex), diaphragms (latex, silicone), cervical cap (silicone) and dams (latex, non-latex). Men and women requesting barrier methods should be given information on how to use the method correctly.

# Condoms

The effectiveness of both male and female condoms in preventing pregnancy is dependent on correct and consistent use (See table 1) [1-3]. Pregnancy rates are similar for latex and non-latex male condoms [4-6].

The main spermicide available in the UK contains nonoxinol-9 (N-9). It is a mucosal irritant that can cause epithelial disruption and lesions in the vagina or rectum [7], which may in turn increase the risk of HIV acquisition/transmission. It offers no protection against other STIs and does not reduce pregnancy rates when compared to non-spermicidally lubricated condoms [8]. Condoms lubricated with N-9 are therefore not recommended [9].

Dual protection using both barrier and either hormonal or intra-uterine contraception is the most effective way to prevent both pregnancy and to reduce transmission of HIV but may not be required in the context of suppressive ART. Women using condoms alone should be aware of emergency contraception, and know how to access a supply in a timely manner; drug-drug interactions between ART and emergency contraception must be considered.

# Diaphragm and Caps

Diaphragms and caps provide a physical barrier to sperm reaching the cervix. When used perfectly, diaphragms and cervical caps are estimated to be between 92% and 96% effective at preventing pregnancy. Diaphragms cover the cervix and part of the upper vagina, and caps cover only the cervix. Relatively large areas of the vaginal mucosa remain exposed with both methods, thus permitting potential viral transmission. In addition, caps and diaphragms are recommended to be used with N-9 [10], and as outlined above, this would not be appropriate in WLWH with HIV-negative partners or when women are at risk of HIV acquisition. Women should be made aware that there is little evidence that diaphragm or cervical cap reduces the risk of HIV transmission [11]. The risks of using these methods by women at high risk of HIV or living with HIV generally outweigh the benefits (WHOMEC Category 3).

# **Combined Hormonal Contraception (CHC)**

CHC is highly effective (perfect use failure rate 0.3% in the first year, typical use failure rate up to 9% [3]) and prevent pregnancy through a variety of mechanisms including suppression of gonadotrophins, increased viscosity of cervical mucus and endometrial suppression [12,13].

There are three types of CHC:

- Combined oral contraceptive pill (COC): the most common method in the general population aged 16-49 years [14,15]
- Combined contraception transdermal patch (CTP): applied for 3 weeks followed by 7 days patch-free
- Combined contraception vaginal ring (CVR): inserted for 3 weeks then removed for 7 days

CHC is safe and effective for WLWH not on ART (UKMEC 1). However, a detailed history should be taken including other medical conditions, drug use, family medical history, and lifestyle factors such as smoking, in addition blood pressure and BMI should be checked prior to first prescription of CHC as per standard recommendations.

For women on ART a careful review of drug-drug interactions should be undertaken and, where there are interactions known or suspected to limit contraceptive efficacy, an alternative ART regimen or alternative method of contraception considered.

# **Progestogen-only Contraception (POC)**

There are currently three POC methods available in the UK:

- Progestogen-only pill (POP)
- Progestogen-only injectable (POIC)
- Progestogen-only implant (IMP)

# Progestogen-only Pill (POP)

POPs are taken without a pill-free interval and mainly work by thickening cervical mucus, and by a lesser effect on the endometrium; desogestrel works primarily by inhibiting ovulation [17].

If used consistently and correctly, POPs are more than 99% effective. Although there is a lack of robust data, the desogestrel POP may be more effective than traditional POP, as it suppresses the ovulation more consistently and has a longer missed pill window [18].

POP is classified as UKMEC category 1 for WLWH, not on ART. For women on ART a careful review of drug-drug interactions should be undertaken and, where there are interactions known or suspected to limit contraceptive efficacy, an alternative ART regimen or alternative method of contraception considered.

# Progestogen-only Injectable Contraception (POIC)

Two POIC methods are available in the UK: Depot medroxyprogesterone acetate (DMPA) and norethisterone enantate (NET-EN). DMPA can be administered by intramuscular [19] or subcutaneous [20] routes; NET-EN is less commonly used and licensed for short-term use only [21]. POICs work primarily by inhivitong ovulation [22-24].

The failure rate of POIC is approximately 0.2% in the first year of use, if administered at the recommended dosing interval. With typical use the failure rate is approximately 6%.

DMPA may increase HIV acquisition in women at high risk (see next section for more detail).

POIC use is associated with a small loss of bone mineral density (BMD), which is usually recovered after discontinuation [25-26]; HIV infection may also be associated with reduced bone density [27] and initiation of ART is associated with an initial loss in BMD before being stabilised [28]. BMD considerations should be included in discussion about contraceptive method and re-evaluation of the osteoporosis risks and benefits should be carried out every 2 years in those who wish to continue POIC. NICE recommends vitamin D supplementation for women, who may be at an increased risk of developing osteopenia or osteoporosis [29]. There is no robust evidence to make recommendations on dual energy X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA) scanning in POIC users. Local protocols for referral criteria should be followed.

# Progestogen-only subdermal implants (IMP)

IMP contains etonogestrel, suppresses ovulation and is licensed for 3 years of use. It is a safe and effective method of contraception for WLWH not on ART (UKMEC 1). See the next section for more detailed information on drug-drug interactions between IMP and ART; IMP should not be co-adminstered with efavirenz due to reports of contraceptive failure and the results of a pharmacokinetic study (see below).

# Intrauterine Contraception (IUC)

IUC comprises two types:

- Copper-bearing intrauterine device (Cu-IUD)
- Levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system (LNG-IUS)

# Copper Bearing Intrauterine Devices (Cu-IUD)

Cu-IUDs prevent fertilisation and inhibiting implantation and are licensed for 5-10 years use. They are a safe and effective method of contraception for WLWH with CD4 count  $\geq$ 200 cells/mm<sup>3</sup>, with no evidence of increased complications when compared to HIV negative women (UKMEC 2) [33,34]. However, initiation of Cu-IUD is UKMEC 3 for WLWH with CD4 count <200 cells/mm<sup>3</sup> due to potential higher risk of infection post procedure. UKMEC 2016 indicates that the initiation of Cu-IUD may be appropriate in some women with low CD4 counts who have an undetectable viral load. The decision is a matter of clinical judgment. Women with CD4 count <200 cells/mm<sup>3</sup> and a Cu-IUD already in situ may continue to use the method under category 2.

# Levonorgestrel intrauterine system (LNG-IUS)

LNG-IUS devices contain different doses of levonorgestrel and are licensed for 3-5 years [35-37]; their main mechanism is via direct local effect on the endometrium, preventing implantation. WLWH with CD4 count ≥200 cells/mm<sup>3</sup> can be offered an IUS (UKMEC 2) but initiation in women with CD4 count <200 cells/mm<sup>3</sup> is classified as category 3 for reasons outlined above. Like the CuIUD, women with a CD4 <200 and a LNG-IUS already in situ may continue to use the method under category 2.

# **Emergency Contraception**

Emergency contraception (EC), with Cu-IUD or oral pills, reduces the risk of unintended pregnancy following any unprotected sexual intercourse (UPSI) or when their usual method of contraception has failed.

The Cu-IUD is the most effective form of EC. All women presenting between 0 and 120 hours of UPSI or within 5 days of earliest ovulation (e.g. day 19 in a regular 28-day cycle) should be

offered a Cu-IUD as EC, if eligible. Use of a Cu-IUD for EC carries the same contraindications as routine Cu-IUD insertion [1]. However, the risk-benefit ratio may be different for the use of the Cu-IUD as EC compared to when it is used for routine contraception.

There are two methods of oral EC available in the UK. Ulipristal acetate (UPA) is a progesterone receptor modulator and is licensed for use within 120 hours of UPSI. Levonorgestrel EC (1.5mg LNG) is licensed up to 72 hours after UPSI or contraceptive failure. Like hormone-based methods, UPA may also be subject to drug-drug interactions with ART [38].

Table 1: Percentage of users becoming pregnant in first year of use of method, with perfect
and typical use of the method <sup>3</sup>

Method	Perfect use	Typical
Combined Hormonal	0.3	9
Contraceptives		
Progestogen only oral	0.3	9
Progestogen only injectable	0.2	6
Progestogen only implant	0.05	0.05
Male condom	2	18
Female condom	5	21
Diaphragm	6	12
Copper IUD	0.6	0.8
Levonorgestrel IUS	0.1	0.2
Female sterilisation	0.5	0.5
Male sterilisation	0.1	0.15

# Table 2: UK Medical Eligibility Criteria (UKMEC) categories<sup>1</sup>

UKMEC	Definition of category
Category 1	A condition for which there is no restriction for the use of the method
Category 2	A condition where the advantages of using the method generally outweigh
	the theoretical or proven risks
Category 3	A condition where the theoretical or proven risks usually outweigh the
	advantages of using the method. The provision of a method requires expert
	clinical judgment and/or referral to a specialist contraceptive provider, since
Category 4	A condition which represents an unacceptable health risk if the method is
	used

# Table 3: Summary of UKMEC Categories for Use of Common Reversible Methods of Contraception in women with or at risk of HIV<sup>1,39,40</sup>

Condition	Cu-IUD		LNG-	IUS	IMP	DMPA	РОР	СНС
a) High risk of HIV infection	2		2		1	2	1	1
b) HIV infected					•			
(i) CD4 count ≥200	2		2		1	1	1	1
(ii) CD4 count <200	I	С	I	С				
cells/mm3	3	2	3	2	1	1	1	1
c) Taking antiretroviral (ARV) drugs	3232111Certain ARV drugs have the potential to affect the bioavailability of steroid hormones in hormonal contraception. The contraceptive effectiveness of DMPA, Cu- IUD and the LNG-IUS is not reduced by concurrent use of 				use of teractions			

Cu-IUD = Copper-bearing intrauterine device; LNG-IUS = Levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system; IMP = Progestogen-only implant; DMPA = Progestogen-only injectable: depot medroxyprogesterone acetate; POP = Progestogen-only pill; CHC = Combined hormonal contraception Table 4: Summary of WHOMEC Categories for Use of barrier Methods and emergency oral contraception in women with or at risk of HIV<sup>41</sup>

Condition	Condom	Diaphragm	UPA EC	LNG EC
a) High risk of HIV infection	1	4	1	1
b) HIV infected		·		
(i) CD4 count ≥200 cells/mm3	1	3	1	1
(ii) CD4 count <200 cells/mm3	1	3	1	1
c) Taking antiretroviral (ARV) drugs	Certain ARV drugs have the potential to affect the bioavailability of steroid hormones in EC.			
	For up-to-date information on the potential drug interactions between EC and ARV drugs.			

UPA = 30 mg Ulipristal acetate ; LNG = 1.5mg Levonorgestrel

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Faculty of Family Planning and Reproductive Health Care Clinical Effectiveness Unit. The UK medical eligibility criteria for contraceptive use (UKMEC). 2016.
- 2. French PP, Latka M, Gollub EL, et al. Use-effectiveness of the female versus male condom in preventing sexually transmitted disease in women. Sex Transm Dis. 2003; 30(5): 440-2
- 3. Trussell J. Contraceptive failure in the United States. Contraception 2011; 83: 397–404
- 4. Trussell J. Contraceptive Efficacy. In: Hatcher RA, Trussell J, Stewart F, Nelson F et al. (eds), Contraceptive Technology. New York, NY: Ardent Media, 2004
- 5. Gallo MF, Grimes DA, Lopez LM, Schulz KF. Non-latex versus latex male condoms for contraception. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2006; 1: CD003550
- Frezieres RG, Walsh TL, Nelson AL, Clark VA, Coulson AH. Evaluation of the efficacy of a polyurethane condom: results from a randomized, controlled clinical trial. Fam Plann Perspect 1999; 31: 81–87
- 7. Phillps DM, Taylor CL, Zacharopoulos VR, Maguire RA. Nonoxynol-9 causes rapid exfoliation of sheets of rectal epithelium. Contraception 2006; 63: 149–154.
- 8. WHO/CONRAD technical consultation on nonoxynol-9, World Health Organisation, Geneva 2001: summary report
- 9. Dawe F, Meltzer H. Contraception and sexual health, 2001. Office for National Statistics. London, UK: Her Majesty's Stationery Office (HMSO), 2003, i-50.
- 10. Cook L, Nanda K, Grimes D. Diaphragm versus diaphragm with spermicides for contraception. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2003; 1: CD002031
- Rosenberg MJ, Davidson AJ, Chen JH, Judson FN, Douglas JM. Barrier contraceptives and sexually transmitted diseases in women: a comparison of female-dependent methods and condoms. Am J Public Health 1992; 82: 669–674
- 12. Killick SR, Eyong E, Elstein M. Ovarian follicular development in oral contraceptive cycle. Fertil Steril 1987; 48: 409–413.
- 13. Mulders TMT, Dieben TOM. Use of the novel combined contraceptive vaginal ring NuvaRing for ovulation inhibition. Fertil Steril 2001; 75: 865–870.
- 14. Wang CC, Reilly M, Kreiss JK. Risk of HIV infection in oral contraceptive pill users: a meta- analysis. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol. 1999; 21: 51-58
- 15. Office for National Statistics. Contraception and Sexual Health 2008/2009. 2009. http://www.statistics.gov.uk/
- 16. Faculty of Sexual and Reproductive Healthcare Clinical Effectiveness Unit. Drug Interactions with Hormonal Contraception. 2011.
- 17. Rice CF, Killick SR, Dieben T, Coelingh Bennink H. A comparison of the inhibition of ovulation achieved by desogestrel 75 micrograms and levonorgestrel 30 micrograms daily. Hum Reprod 1999; 14: 982–985.
- Korver T, Klipping C, Heger-Mahn D, et al. Maintenance of ovulation inhibition with the 75-microg desogestrelonly contraceptive pill (Cerazette) after scheduled 12-h delay in tablet intake. Contraception 2005; 71: 8–13.
- 19. Pfizer Limited. Depo-Provera 150mg/ml Injection. 2014. https://www.medicines.org.uk/emc/medicine/1112.
- 20. Pfizer Limited. SAYANA PRESS 104 mg/0.65 ml suspension for injection: Summary of Product Characteristics. 2014
- 21. Bayer plc. Noristerat: Summary of Product Characteristics. 2009. http://www.emc.medicines.org.uk.
- 22. Mishell DR Jr. Pharmacokinetics of depot medroxyprogesterone acetate contraception. J Repod Med 1996; 41: 381–390.
- 23. Jain J, Dutton C, Nicosia A, Wajszczuk C, Bode FR, Mishell DR Jr. Pharmacokinetics, ovulation suppression and return to ovulation following a lower dose subcutaneous formulation of Depo-Provera. Contraception 2004; 70: 11–18.
- 24. Ortiz A, Hirol M, Stanczyk FZ, Goebelsmann U, Mishell DR. Serum medroxyprogesterone acetate (MPA) concentrations and ovarian function following intramuscular injection of depo-MPA. J Clin Endcrinol Metab 1977; 44: 32–38.

- 25. Kaunitz AM, Arias R, McClung M. Bone density recovery after depot medroxyprogesterone acetate injectable contraception use. Contraception 2008; 77: 67–76.
- 26. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Long-acting Reversible Contraception (Update). 2014.
- 27. Brown TT, Qaqish RB. Antiretroviral therapy and the prevalence of osteopenia and osteoporosis: a meta-analytic review. AIDS 2006; 20: 2165–2174.
- 28. Bolland MJ, Wang TKM, Grey A, Gamble GD, Reid IR. Stable bone density in HAART-treated individuals with HIV: a meta-analysis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 96: 2721–2731.
- 29. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guideline Osteoporosis: assessing the risk of fragility fracture. 2012. <u>www.nice.org.uk.</u>
- 30. Lakhi N, Govind A. Implanon failure in patients on antiretroviral medication: the importance of disclosure. J Fam Plann Reprod Health Care 2010; 36: 181–182.
- 31. McCarty EJ, Keane H, Quinn K, Quah S. Implanon failure in an HIV-positive woman on antiretroviral therapy resulting in two ectopic pregnancies. Int J STD AIDS 2011; 22: 413–414
- 32. Faculty of Sexual & Reproductive Health Care Clinical Guidance. Drug Interactions with Hormonal Contraception. 2011.
- 33. Sinei SK, Morrison cs, Sekaddek-Kigondy C, et al. Complications of use of intrauterine devices among HIV-1 infected women. Lancet 1998; 351: 1238–1241.
- 34. Morrison CS, Sekkaddek-Kigondu C, Sinei SK, et al. Is the intrauterine device appropriate contraception for HIV-1 infected women? BJOG 2001; 108: 784–790
- 35. Bayer plc. Mirena: Summary of Product Characteristics. 2013.
- 36. Bayer plc. Jaydess: Summary of Product Characteristics. 2015.
- 37. Actavis UK Ltd. Levosert: Summary of Product Characteristics. 2014.
- 38. Ella one: HRA Pharma UK & Ireland: Summary of Product Characteristics. Accessed December 2016
- 39. Faculty of Sexual and Reproductive Healthcare Clinical Effectiveness Unit Statement: Change of UKMEC category for use of progestogen-only injectable contraception by women at high risk of HIV infection from UKMEC1 to UKMEC2. 2017 <u>https://www.fsrh.org/standards-and-guidance/documents/ceu-statement-uk-mec-2016-update/</u>
- 40. World Health Organization. Guidance Statement: Recommendations concerning the use of hormonal contraceptive methods by women at high risk of HIV. 2017 http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/254662/1/WHO-RHR-17.04-eng.pdf?ua=1
- 41. WHO Medical eligibility criteria for contraceptive use. Fifth edition 2015

# Hormonal contraception and antiretroviral drug-drug interactions

For women who take ART, contraceptive choices may be restricted by potential drug-drug interactions (DDI).

Hormonal contraceptives, both oral and systemic, are generally metabolised via the cytochrome P450 isoenzyme system and the glucuronidation pathway:

- Ethinyl estradiol (EE) is predominantly metabolised by CYP3A4 and CYP2C9 and via glucuronidation by the uridine 5-diphosphate glucuronosyltransferase (UGT) isoenzymes particularly UGT1A
- Most progestogens are metabolised by the CYP3A4 isoenzyme though there is significant inter- and intra-individual variability.

As several, particularly older, ARVs induce or inhibit these systems there are numerous potential drug-drug interactions. The exceptions to the drug-drug interactions are the POICs and the LNG-IUS which to date have had no major interactions reported with any ARVs [1]. POIC clearance is approximately equal to the hepatic blood flow hence its metabolism is not likely to be affected by DDI and the local effect of progestogen in the LNG-IUS limits the impact of DDI on its efficacy. **Therefore, the POICs and the LNG-IUS can be used with all ARVs.** 

The remaining hormonal contraceptive methods, the combined oral contraceptive pill, the progestogen only pill, the contraceptive patch, the contraceptive vaginal ring, and the progestogen only subdermal implant do have the potential to be impacted by DDI with some of the ARVs and these are all discussed below under the grouping "hormonal contraceptives".

The **NRTI class** of ARVs is the usual backbone to most treatment regimens. These are renally eliminated and are not metabolised by CYP450 nor glucuronidation pathways. **NRTI can be used with all contraceptives** [2,3].

Conversely, non-nucelose reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTIs), protease inhibitors (PIs) and one of the integrase inhibitors (INIs), elvitegravir boosted with cobicistat, may interact with hormonal contraceptives as several are inducers and/or inhibitors of either or both the CYP isoenzyme and glucuronidation pathways.

Of the NNRTIS, **efavirenz** has the ability to both inhibit and induce the enzyme pathways involved in metabolising ethinyl estradiol (EE) which appears to give a neutral net effect on the levels of EE but on the other hand, efavirenz significantly lowers progestogen levels, hence it would not be safe to use with hormonal contraceptives (bar LNG-IUS and POIC) and this has been demonstrated in several studies studies including recent data demonstrating that efavirenz reduces levels of etonogestrel when administered to women with a subdermal progestogen implant [4-8]. **Concurrent use of efavirenz and hormonal contraceptives (except POIC and LNG-IUS) is not recommended.**  **Nevirapine** is a CYP3A4 inducer so would be expected to lower levels of EE and progestogen, as demonstrated in older studies [9,10]. However, more recent studies demonstrated increased concentrations of both EE and progestogen [11] and no differences in ovulation or pregnancy rates [12]; further studies are needed to confirm these findings before changing the recommendation **not to use nevirapine with hormonal contraceptives (except DMPA and LNG-IUS).** 

The newer NNRTIs **etravirine** [13] and **rilpivirine** [14] appear not to cause any significant alterations in oestrogen and progestogen concentrations despite etravirine being a weak CYP3A4 inducer and weak CYP2C9 inhibitor, and no loss of contraceptive efficacy is expected when they are co-administered. **Etravirine and rilpivirine can be used safely with all hormonal contraceptives.** 

Interactions with PIs are complicated by the pharmacokinetic effects of the booster, ritonavir or cobicistat, and the PI per se on concentrations of EE and progestogen. **Darunavir, fosamprenavir** and **lopinavir** boosted with ritonavir, which results in significantly lower EE concentrations and sometimes lower progestogen concentrations so **are not recommended to be used with hormonal contraceptives (except DMPA and LNG-IUS)** [15-17]. The effects of the newer booster **cobicistat** are unknown, but would be expected to result in different interactions as it does not induce the CYP450 isoenzymes nor glucuronidation, but it acts as a potent CYP3A4 inhibitor and weak CYP2D6 inhibitor. Current studies are underway that will give answers to this question in the immediate future.

Boosted **atazanavir (with ritonavir)** behaves differently as atazanvair on its own is an inhibitor of UGT (unboosted atazanavir results in 110% increase in AUC of norethindrone and 48% increase in AUC for EE) which counters some of the booster's induction effect. This results in only slight reductions in EE levels, but the progestogen levels remain high. Studies have indicated that boosted atazanavir can be used with the oral combined contraceptive pill that contains doses of at least 30 µg of oestrogen and the progestogen, norgestimate as this was the progestogen that was used in the studies [18-20]. The effect of raised progestogen levels is unknown but would need to be taken into consideration with regard to side effects. The older PI indinavir which is seldom used today, is safe to use with hormonal contraceptives [21].

**Maraviroc,** an CCR5 entry inhibitor, is metabolised by CYP3A4 and P-glycoprotein but does not appear to induce or inhibit the isoenzymes involved in EE or progestogen metabolism and studies have shown it is safe for co-administration with hormonal contraceptives [22].

The integrase inhibitors (INIs) **raltegravir** and **dolutegravir**, are well known for their lack of drug-drug interactions and do not affect the pharmacokinetics of EE or progestogen, therefore both are safe to use with all hormonal contraceptives [23,24]. The other INI **elvitegravir** has a different pharmacokinetic profile as it is boosted with cobicistat, and itself is a modest inducer of CYP2C9. Boosted elvitegravir, lowers EE levels and raises progestogen levels but this can be

compensated by increasing the EE dose so the data suggests it can be given with an oral contraceptive that has at least 30  $\mu$ g of oestrogen and norgestimate as the progestogen [25].

Because no high-quality, definitive studies exist on pregnancy rates among women on different hormonal contraceptives and ARVs, the dosing recommendations in the table below are based on consensus expert opinion. Whenever possible, the recommendations are based on available data regarding pharmacokinetic (PK) interactions between ARVs and combined hormonal methods, POICs and etonogestrel implants.

# Emergency contraception

There is a paucity of data on interactions between EC and ART. Current FSRH guidance recommends that women using liver enzyme inducing drugs should be advised to use a Cu-IUD as EC. If this is not acceptable or appropriate, the current recommendation is that with enzyme inducing drugs (such as nevirapine, efavirenz and etravirine ), the dose of levonorgestral is doubled and these women should be advised to take two 1.5 mg LNG tablets (3 mg) as a single dose as soon as possible and within 72 hours of UPSI. This is an off label indication and the effectiveness of double dose LNG-EC with enzyme inducers is now known; these limitations should be documented in the medical record.

There are no data on potential interactions between ART and UPA, however, ulipristal acetate is predominantly metabolized by CYP3A4, so interactions should be expected with inducers (nevirapine, efavirenz, etravirine) and inhibitors (ritonavir and cobocistat). UPA should be avoided in women on enzyme inducers currently or within the last 28 days [26].

Advice regarding DDI with emergency contraception is likely to evolve so refer to the Summary of Product Characteristics and the Liverpool interaction website.

# Table 1 Summary of drug interactions between hormonal contraceptives and ARVs (correct at time of publication, always check Summaries of Product Characteristics and www.HIV-druginteractions.org for current advice)

Antiretroviral Drug	Effect on POIC (DMPA & NET)	Effect on LNG-IUS	Effect on other hormonal contraceptives *
NNRTIS			
Efavirenz	No impact on efficacy expected	No impact on efficacy expected	Alternative/additional methods
Nevirapine	No impact on efficacy expected	No impact on efficacy expected	Alternative/additional methods
Etravirine	No impact on efficacy expected	No impact on efficacy	No impact on efficacy expected

		expected	
Rilpivirine	No impact on	No impact	No impact on efficacy
	efficacy expected	on efficacy	expected
Pls		expected	
Atazanavir/ritonavir	No impact on	No impact	For the COC can use
	efficacy expected	on efficacy	when dose of
		expected	EE=30ug or more with
			norgestimate as the
			progestogen. Not advised with
			other hormonal
			methods as not
			studied.
Darunavir/ritonavir	No impact on	No impact	Alternative/additional
	efficacy expected	on efficacy expected	methods
Lopinavir/ritonavir	No impact on	No impact	Alternative/additional
	efficacy expected	on efficacy	methods
		expected	
Fosamprenavir/ritonavir	No impact on	No impact	Alternative/additional
	efficacy expected	on efficacy	methods
INIs		expected	
Raltegravir	No impact on	No impact	No impact on efficacy
	efficacy expected	on efficacy	expected
		expected	
Dolutegravir	No impact on	No impact	No impact on efficacy
	efficacy expected	on efficacy expected	expected
Elvitegravir/cobicistat	No impact on	No impact	For the COC can use
	efficacy expected	on efficacy	when dose of
		expected	EE=30ug or more with
			norgestimate as
			progestogen. Not advised with
			other hormonal
			methods as not
			studied.
CCR5 Inhibitor			
Maraviroc	No impact on	No impact	No impact on efficacy
	efficacy expected	on efficacy expected	expected
		expected	

\*Hormonal contraceptives: Combined oral contraceptive pill, progestogen only pill, combined contraceptive patch, combined contraceptive ring, progestogen only subdermal implant

Table 2

Use of contraceptive methods when woman is using an enzyme-inducer and within 28 days of stopping treatment (Reproduced from FSRH Guidance on Drug Interactions with Hormonal Contraception 2017) [27]

#### See page 8 FSRH guidance – copyrighted, permission pending

https://www.fsrh.org/standards-and-guidance/documents/ceu-clinical-guidancedrug-interactions-with-hormonal/

Method	Clinical recommendation
снс	<ul> <li>Not advised.</li> <li>Recommend an alternative method.</li> <li>Women taking rifampicin and rifabutin should always be advised to change to an alternative method.</li> <li>If a woman wishes choice with other enzyme-inducing drugs, consider use of a minimum 50 µg (30 µg + 20 µg) EE monophasic pill during treatment and for a further 28 days with a continuous or tricycling regimen plus pill-free interval of 4 days.</li> <li>Breakthrough bleeding may indicate low serum EE concentrations. Exclude other causes (e.g. chlamydia) and dose of EE can exceptionally be increased up to a maximum of 70 µg EE after specialist advice.</li> <li>Use of two patches or two rings is not recommended.</li> </ul>
POP	• Not advised.     • Recommend an alternative method.
IMP	• Not advised.     • Recommend an alternative method.
DMPA LNG-IUS	No interaction.     No need for extra precautions.
Cu-IUD (EC)	No interaction.     Most effective method of EC.     No need for extra precautions.
LNG-EC	<ul> <li>Can use DOUBLE DOSE i.e. 3 mg (2 x 1.5 mg tablet) as a single dose within &lt;72 hours of unprotected sexual intercourse (UPSI) if Cu-IUD is declined or unsuitable.</li> </ul>
UPA-EC	• Not advised.     • Recommend an alternative method.

- 1. Tseng A, Hills-Nieminen C. Drug interactions between antiretrovirals and hormonal contraceptives. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol 2013; 9: 559-572
- 2. Kearney BP, Mathias A. Lack of effect of tenofovir-DF disoproxil fumarate on pharmacokinetics of hormonal contraceptives. Pharmacotherapy 2009; 29: 924-929
- 3. Aweeka F, Rosenkranz S, Yonninah S et al. The impact of sex and contraceptive therapy on the plasma and intracellular pharmacokinetics of zidovudine. AIDS 2006; 20:1833-41
- 4. Sevinsky H, Eley T, Persson A et al. The effect of efavirenz on the pharmacokinetics of an oral contraceptive containing ethinyl estradiol and norgestimate in healthy HIV-negative women. Antiviral therapy 2011; **16**(2): 149-156
- 5. Landolt NK, Phanuphak N, Ubolyam S et al. Efavirenz, in contrast to nevirapine, is associated with unfavorable progestogen and antiretroviral levels when coadministered with combined oral contraceptives. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2013 Apr 15;62(5):534-9.
- 6. Scarsi K, Lamorde M, Darin K et al. Efavirenz- but not nevirapine-based antiretroviral therapy decreases exposure to the levonorgestrel released from a sub-dermal contraceptive implant. J Int AIDS Soc. 2014 Nov 2;17(4 Suppl 3):19484.
- 7. Patel RC, Onono M, Gandhi M et al. Pregnancy rates in HIV-positive women using contraceptives and efavirenz-based or nevirapine-based antiretroviral therapy in Kenya: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet HIV. 2015 Nov;2(11):e474-82.

- Scarsi KK, Darin KM, Nakalema S et al. Unintended Pregnancies Observed With Combined Use of the Levonorgestrel Contraceptive Implant and Efavirenz-based Antiretroviral Therapy: A Three-Arm Pharmacokinetic Evaluation Over 48 Weeks. Clin Infect Dis. 2016 Mar 15;62(6):675-682.
- 9. Mildvan D, Yarrish R, Marshak A et al. Pharmacokinetic interaction between nevirapine and ethinyl estradiol/norethindrone when administered concurrently to HIV infected women. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2002; 29: 471-7
- 10. Boehringer Ingelheim International. Viramune SPC. 2001 Accessed April 2016
- Stuart G, Moses A, Corbett A et al. Combined oral contraceptives and ARV Pk/PD in Malawian women:pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of a combined oral contraceptive and a generic combined formulation ARV in Malawi. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2011;58(2): 40-3
- 12. Nanda K, Delany-Moretlwe S, Dubé K et al. Nevirapine-based antiretroviral therapy does not reduce oral contraceptive effectiveness. AIDS. 2013 Oct;27 Suppl 1:S17-25.
- 13. Schöller-Gyüre M1, Kakuda TN, Woodfall B, Aharchi F, Peeters M, Vandermeulen K, Hoetelmans RM. Effect of steady-state etravirine on the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of ethinylestradiol and norethindrone. Contraception. 2009;80(1):44-52.
- 14. Crauwels HM, van Heeswijk RP, Buelens A, Stevens M, Hoetelmans RM. Lack of an effect of rilpivirine on the pharmacokinetics of ethinylestradiol and norethindrone in healthy volunteers. Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2014 Feb;52(2):118-28.
- 15. El-Ibiary SY, Cocohoba JM. Effects of HIV antiretrovirals on the pharmacokinetics of hormonal contraceptives . Eur J Contracept Reprod Health Care. 2008;13(2):123-32.
- Sekar VJ, Lefebvre E, Guzman SS, Felicione E, De Pauw M, Vangeneugden T, Hoetelmans RM. Pharmacokinetic interaction between ethinyl estradiol, norethindrone and darunavir with low-dose ritonavir in healthy women. Antivir Ther. 2008;13(4):563-9.
- Vogler MA, Patterson K, Kamemoto L et al. Contraceptive efficacy of oral and transdermal hormones when co-administered with protease inhibitors in HIV-1-infected women: pharmacokinetic results of ACTG trial A5188. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2010;55(4):473-82.
- 18. DuBois BN, Atrio J, Stanczyk FZ, Cherala G. Increased exposure of norethindrone in HIV+ women treated with ritonavir-boosted atazanavir therapy. Contraception 2015; **91**(1): 71-75
- 19. Zhang J, Chung E, Yones C et al. The effect of atazanavir/ritonavir on the pharmacokinetics of an oral contraceptive containing ethinyl estradiol and norgestimate in healthy women. Antivir Ther 2011; 16: 157-164.
- 20. Atrio J, Stanczyk FZ, Neely M, Cherala G, Kovacs A, Mishell DR Jr. Effect of protease inhibitors on steady-state pharmacokinetics of oral norethindrone contraception in HIV-infected women. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2014;65(1):72-7.
- 21. Clark RA, Theall K. Population-based study evaluating association between selected antiretroviral therapies and potential oral contraceptive failure. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2004; 37: 1219-1220.
- 22. Abel S, Russell D, Whitlock LA, Ridgway CE, Muirhead GJ. Effect of maraviroc on the pharmacokinetics of midazolam, lamivudine/zidovudine and ethinylestradiol/levonorgestrel in healthy volunteers. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2008; 65 (suppl 1): 19-26.
- 23. Anderson MS, Hanley WD, Moreau AR et al. Effect of raltegravir on estradiol and norgestimare plasma pharmacokinetics following oral contraceptive administration in healthy women. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2011; 71: 616-620
- 24. Song IH, Borland J, Chen S, Wajima T, Peppercorn AF, Piscitelli SC. Dolutegravir Has No Effect on the Pharmacokinetics of Oral Contraceptives With Norgestimate and Ethinyl Estradiol. Ann Pharmacother. 2015; 49(7):784-9.
- 25. German P, Wang M, Warren D, Kearney BP. Pharmacokinetic interactions between norgestimate/ethinyl estradiol and stribild STR. 12<sup>th</sup> International Workshop on Clinical Pharmacology of HIV therapy 2011. Abstract 0\_17
- 26. Ella one: HRA Pharma UK & Ireland: Summary of Product Characteristics. Accessed December 2016
- 27. Faculty of Sexual and Reproductive Health Clinical Effectiveness Unit Clinical Guidance. Drug Interactions with Hormonal Contraception 2017 https://www.fsrh.org/standards-and-guidance/documents/ceu-clinical-guidance-drug-interactions-with-hormonal/

## Contraception and HIV Acquisition, Transmission and Disease Progression

#### Recommendation

• Women and their partners should be informed about a possible increased risk of HIV acquisition and transmission with injectable hormonal contraception, and about the importance of dual protection with condoms to reduce HIV risk.

There have been theoretical concerns that contraceptive methods could increase susceptibility to HIV infection, increase risk of transmission, or influence the course of HIV disease. Some observational studies have suggested that women using POIC, are at higher risk of HIV acquisition, although other studies have not demonstrated this. Balancing potential risks of contraception with the benefits is a particular challenge in countries where women have a high risk of acquiring HIV, where maternal mortality rates are high, and where injectable methods are in popular use. Most studies have been conducted in these high-risk populations and the relevance of the findings to the general population is unclear. Modelling studies have suggested that a reduction in DMPA use would be unlikely to result in public health benefit, with the possible exception of those countries in southern Africa with the largest HIV epidemics [1]. A major RCT is on-going aiming to clarify the degree of risk associated with different methods (expected to report 2019), and further work remains to be done on how the use of ARV modifies the effects of contraception on HIV disease. Information about contraceptive options for people at risk of HIV or living with HIV should include any potential risks related to HIV.

## Acquisition in HIV-negative women

Three types of evidence have raised concerns about hormonal contraception and increased HIV acquisition. High dose progestogen has been found to greatly increase HIV acquisition in non-human primates [2]. Biological plausibility is provided by the hypo-oestrogenic state and vaginal mucosal thinning induced by progestogen contraception [3], increased cervical ectopy, alterations in expression of immune mediators [4-9], changes in immune cell populations [10-12], and alterations in the vaginal microbiome [3]. Medroxyprogesterone acetate has been shown to have greater influence on immune function than other progestogens [13]

Epidemiological evidence is mixed, with some but not all studies indicating an increased risk of HIV acquisition in users of hormonal contraception. The quality of evidence has improved over time as a result of better differentiation between contraceptive formulations, and consideration of confounders such as condom use. Over-reporting of condom use by hormonal contraceptive users has been thought to be a potential source of bias, but recent analyses have weakened this theory [14].

Most epidemiological studies have reported an association between DMPA and increased risk of HIV acquisition. In a meta-analysis of observational studies, ten of the twelve included studies indicated moderate increased risk of HIV acquisition among women using DMPA; none of the included studies indicated increased risk among women using oral contraceptive pills [15]. Another meta-analysis pooled

individual participant data from 18 studies, including 37,124 women [16]. This metaanalysis found that DMPA use was associated with HIV acquisition relative to nonhormonal method use: adjusted hazard ratio (aHR) 1.50 (95% CI 1.24-1.83). A statistically non-significant risk was found for norethisterone enantate (NET-EN) use: aHR 1.24 (95% CI 0.84-1.82). COC use was not associated with HIV acquisition: aHR 1.03 (95% CI 0.88-1.20). Similar risk estimates were reported in an updated systematic review [17].

After review of the evidence, WHO and the UKMEC guideline development group considered that DMPA should be classified UKMEC2 for women at high risk of HIV ie benefits outweigh risks. The FSRH advice is "A woman who is identified to be at high risk of HIV infection can continue to be offered all methods of contraception (assuming that there are no other contraindications). She should be made aware that some studies have found that users of progestogen-only injectables have an increased risk of HIV acquisition but that it is not known whether the progestogenonly injectable itself causes the increased risk or whether this is due to confounding factors eg non use of condoms. All women at high risk of HIV infection should be advised to use effective contraception to reduce the risk of unplanned pregnancy and to use condoms reliably to minimise the risk of acquiring HIV and other STI."

Little evidence is available on HIV acquisition risk and other contraceptive methods. There remain no data on use of contraceptive patches, rings, or hormonal IUDs and HIV acquisition. Implant use was studied in a prospective observational study of Zambian women in which no association was found between injectable methods, OCP or implant use and HIV acquisition risk relative to non-hormonal methods [18]. The Zambian study was underpowered but was rigorous in adjusting for confounders such as frequency of unprotected sex which was found to be higher in injectable and OCP users. No increased risk of HIV acquisition was reported in two other studies assessing implant use [19,20].

Contraceptive diaphragms have traditionally been used with the spermicide nonoxinol-9 which may increase the risk of HIV acquisition by increasing the rate of genital ulceration [21]. Alternative spermicidal agents are available but there is limited data on HIV acquisition. A study of the diaphragm, lubricant gel (Replens<sup>®</sup>) and condoms showed no increased risk of HIV acquisition [22], and no added protective benefit compared with use of condoms alone. There are limited data on intrauterine contraception but neither biological studies [23] nor epidemiological data [24] indicate any increased risk of HIV acquisition.

## Transmission from HIV-positive women to HIV-negative men

Most of the evidence around contraception and risk of HIV transmission is based on markers of infectivity. Direct evidence of transmission rates is currently limited. An observational study suggested a two-fold increased risk of female-to-male HIV transmission with use of injectable contraceptives, but not for oral contraceptive pills [19]. A smaller retrospective study did not show significant risk of HIV transmission with DMPA or oral contraceptives but the study lacked statistical power [20].

Studies of HIV-1 shedding during the menstrual cycle have demonstrated that HIV-1 RNA reaches its highest levels in genital secretions during the luteal phase, when progesterone predominates [25,26]. However, findings of studies of genital HIV shedding in women using hormonal contraception have been inconsistent [27].

Indirect mechanisms by which hormonal contraceptive use may contribute to HIV-1 infectivity include increased risk of cervical STIs [28], which may increase cervical HIV-1 shedding [29,30]. Data concerning the effect of hormonal contraception on reactivation of genital herpes, which also increases genital HIV-1 levels [30-32], are inconsistent.

Plasma viral load has also been investigated as a marker of infectivity. While one study among Kenyan sex workers suggested an association between DMPA use at the time of HIV infection and a higher plasma viral load setpoint [33], these findings have not been corroborated by subsequently published data [34,35].

### Disease progression in HIV-positive women

Early studies demonstrated that women using DMPA or oral contraceptive pills at the time of HIV-1 acquisition were more likely to acquire multiple viral genotypes [36], which in turn has been associated with higher plasma viral load set point and faster decrease in CD4 cells [37,38].

However, in a systematic review of 11 studies [39], only one RCT showed increased disease progression in women using hormonal contraception who were not receiving ART [40]. Although the study was randomised it had limitations including high levels of switching and loss to follow-up, and lack of power to detect an impact on HIV progression by method of contraception. The other 10 cohort studies did not suggest any increase in disease progression. A US study not included in the systematic review indicated that adolescent females using hormonal contraception had a slightly diminished response to ARV therapy compared to women not using hormonal contraception as measured by viral load and CD4+ T cell counts [41]

The effect of the implant, patch or vaginal ring on disease progression has not been assessed. A small study of the levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system in HIV-infected women did not show any effect on CD4 lymphocyte counts compared to HIV-infected non-users over 5 years [42]

Evidence of hormonal contraception adversely affecting HIV disease progression is currently very limited. Further research is required to ascertain the clinical relevance of these effects, if any. In the UK, where ART is recommended for all PLWH, there is no clinically important impact of contraceptive choice.

#### References

1. Butler AR, Smith JA, Polis CB, Gregson S, Stanton D, Hallett TB. Modelling the global competing risks of a potential interaction between injectable hormonal contraception and HIV risk. AIDS 2013; 27:105–113.

- 2. Veazey RS, Shattock RJ, Klasse PJ, and Moore JP. Animal models for microbicide studies. Curr HIV Res. 2012; 10(1): 79–87.
- Miller L, Patton DL, Meier A, Thwin SS, Hooton TM, Eschenbach DA. Depomedroxyprogesterone-induced hypoestrogenism and changes in vaginal flora and epithelium. Obstet Gynecol 2000; 96:431–9.
- 4. Irvin SC, Herold BC. Molecular mechanisms linking high dose medroxyprogesterone with HIV-1 Risk. PLoS ONE 2015; 10(3): e0121135.
- Huijbregts RP, Helton ES, Michel KG et al. Hormonal contraception and HIV-1 infection: medroxyprogesterone acetate suppresses innate and adaptive immune mechanisms. Endocrinology 2013; 154: 1282–1295.
- 6. Goldfien GA, Barragan F, Chen JC et al. DepoProvera (DMPA) and the levonorgestrel intrauterine system (LNG-IUS) alter expression of genes regulating cell viability and leukocyte migration in human cervix. Am J Reprod Immunol 2013; 69: 58–9.
- Barragan F, Chen JC, Houshdaran S et al. Depo-provera and the levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system (LNG-IUS) alter expression of genes regulating immune-cell trafficking, inflammation, and tissue remodeling in human endometrium. Am J Reprod Immunol 2013; 69: 45–6.
- 8. Morrison C, Fichorova RN, Mauck C et al. Cervical inflammation and immunity associated with hormonal contraception, pregnancy, and HIV-1 seroconversion. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2014; 66: 109-117.
- 9. Guthrie BL, Introini A, Roxby AC et al. Depot medroxyprogesterone acetate use is associated with elevated innate immune effector molecules in cervicovaginal secretions of HIV-1 uninfected women. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2015; 69: 1-10.
- Tomasicchio M, Avenant C, Du Toit A, Ray RM, Hapgood JP. The progestin-only contraceptive medroxyprogesterone acetate, but not norethisterone acetate, enhances HIV-1 Vprmediated apoptosis in human CD4+ T cells through the glucocorticoid receptor. PLoS One 2013;8:e62895.
- 11. Chandra N, Thurman AR, Anderson S et al. Depot medroxyprogesterone acetate increases immune cell numbers and activation markers in human vaginal mucosal tissues. AIDS Res Hum Retrovir 2013;29:592–601.
- 12. Goldfien GA, Barragan F, Chen JC et al. DepoProvera (DMPA) and the levonorgestrel intrauterine system (LNG-IUS) alter expression of genes regulating cell viability and leukocyte migration in human cervix. Am J Reprod Immunol 2013;69:58–9.
- Huijbregts RP, Michel KG, Hel Z. Corrigendum to "effect of progestins on immunity: medroxyprogesterone but not norethisterone or levonorgestrel suppresses the function of T cells and pDCs" [contraception 90 (2014) 123-129]. Contraception 2016;94(5):578.
- 14. McCoy SI, Ralph LJ, Padian NS, Minnis AM. Are hormonal contraceptive users more likely to misreport unprotected sex? Evidence from a biomarker validation study in Zimbabwe. AIDS Behav 2014; 18:2259–2264.
- 15. Ralph LJ, McCoy SI, Shiu K, Padian NS. Hormonal contraceptive use and women's risk of HIV acquisition: a meta-analysis of observational studies. Lancet Infect Dis 2015; 15(2):181-9.
- 16. Morrison CS, Chen PL, Kwok C, Baeten JM, Brown J, Crook AM, et al. Hormonal contraception and the risk of HIV acquisition: an individual participant data meta-analysis. PLoS Med 2015; 12(1):e1001778.
- 17. Polis CB, Curtis KM, Hannaford PC et al. An updated systematic review of epidemiological evidence on hormonal contraceptive methods and HIV acquisition in women. AIDS 2016; 30:2665-2683.
- Wall KM, Kilembe W, Vwalika B et al. Hormonal contraception does not increase women's HIV acquisition risk in Zambian discordant couples, 1994–2012. Contraception 2015; 91: 480–487.
- 19. Heffron R, Donnell D, Rees H, et al. use of hormonal contraceptives and risk of HIV-1 transmission : a prospective cohort study. Lancet Infect Dis 2012; 12: 19-26.
- 20. Lutalo T, Musoke R, Kong X, et al. Effects of hormonal contraceptive use on HIV acquisition and transmission among HIV-discordant couples. AIDS 2013; 27: S27-S34.
- 21. Wilkinson D, Ramjee G, Tholandi M, Rutherford GW. Nonoxynol-9 for preventing vaginal acquisition of sexually transmitted infections by women from men. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2002, Issue 1. Art. No.: CD003939.

- 22. Padian NS, van der Straten A, Ramjee G et al. Diaphragm and lubricant gel for prevention of HIV acquisition in southern African women: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2007: 370: 251-261.
- 23. Achilles SL, Creinin MD, Stoner KA et al. Changes in genital tract immune cell populations after initiation of intrauterine contraception. American journal of obstetrics and gynecology 2014: 211: 489.e481-489.
- Curtis KM, Nanda K and Kapp N. Safety of hormonal and intrauterine methods of contraception for women with HIV/AIDS: a systematic review. AIDS 2009; 23 (suppl 1): S55– S67.
- 25. Benki S, Mostad SB, Richardson BA, Mandaliya K, Kreiss JK, Overbaugh J. Cyclic shedding of HIV-1 RNA in cervical secretions during the menstrual cycle. J Infect Dis 2004; 189: 2192-2201.
- 26. Reichelderfer PS, Coombs RW, Wright DJ, et al. effect of menstrual cycle on HIV-1 levels in the peripheral blood genital tract. WHS 001 Study team. AIDS 2000; 14: 2101-2107.
- Baeten JM, Lavreys L, Overbaugh J. The influence of hormonal contraceptive use on HIV-1 transmission and disease progression. Clin Infect Dis 2007; 45(3): 360-369. doi: 10.1086/519432.
- 28. Lavreys L, Chohan V, Overbaugh J, et al. Hormonal contraception risk of cervical infections among HIV-1-seropositive Kenyan women. AIDS 2004; 18: 2179-2184.
- 29. McClelland RS, Wang CC, Mandaliya K, et al. Treatment of cervicitis is associated with decreased cervical shedding of HIV-1. AIDS 2001; 15: 105-110.
- Baeten JM, McClelland RS, Corey L, et al. Vitamin A supplementation and genital shedding of herpes simplex virus among HIV-1-infected women: a randomized clinical trial. J Infect Dis 2004; 189: 1466-1471.
- Mbopi-Kéou FX, Grésenguet G, Mayaud P. Interactions between herpes simplex virus type 2 human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection in African women: opportunities for intervention. J Infect Dis 2000; 182: 1090-1096.
- 32. McClelland RS, Wang CC, Overbaugh J, et al. Association between cervical shedding of herpes simplex virus HIV-1. AIDS 2002; 16: 2425-2430.
- Lavreys L, Baeten JM, Kreiss JK, et al. Injectable contraceptive use and genital ulcer disease during the early phase of HIV-1 infection increase plasma virus load in women. J Infect Dis 2004; 189: 303-311.
- 34. Morrison CS, Demers K, Kwok, C, Bulime S, Rinaldi A, et al. Plasma and cervical viral loads among Ugandan and Zimbabwean women during acute and early HIV-1 infection. AIDS 2010; 24(4); 573-582.
- 35. Polis CB, Gray RH, Bwanika JB, Kigozi G, Kiwanuka N, et al. Effect of hormonal contraceptive use prior to HIV seroconversion on viral load setpoint among women in Rakai, Uganda. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2011; 56(2): 125-130.
- 36. Sagar M, Lavreys L, Baeten JM, et al. Identification of modifiable factors that affect the genetic diversity of the transmitted HIV-1 population. AIDS 2004: 18; 615-9.
- 37. Sagar M, Lavreys L, Baeten JM, et al. Infection with multiple human immunodeficiency virus type 1 variants is associated with faster disease progression. J Virol 2003; 77: 12921-12926.
- 38. Gottlieb GS, Nickle DC, Jensen MA, et al. Dual HIV-1 infection associated with rapid disease progression. Lancet 2004; 263: 619-622.
- 39. Phillips S, Curtis KM, Polis CB. Effect of hormonal contraceptive methods on HIV disease progression: a systematic review. AIDS 2013; 27: 787-794.
- 40. Stringer EM, Levy J, Sinkala M, Chi BH, Matongo I, Chintu N, et al. HIV disease progression by hormonal contraceptive method: secondary analysis of a randomized trial. *AIDS*. 2009;23:1377–1382.
- 41. Johnson D, Kempf MC , Wilson C, Shrethsa S. Hormonal contraceptive use and response to antiretroviral therapy among adolescent females. HIV and AIDS Review 2011; 10(3): 65-69.
- 42. Heikinheimo O, Lehtovirta P, Aho I, Ristola M, Paavonen J. The levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine system in human immunodeficiency virus-infected women: a 5-year follow-up study. American Journal Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2011;204:126 e1–4.

## Management of the menopause in women living with HIV

#### Recommendations

- We recommend baseline assessment of menstrual cycle and annual review thereafter.
- We recommend proactive assessment of menopausal symptoms on women aged >45 (including hot flushes, sweats, sleep disturbance, genitourinary symptoms, and changes in mood).
- We recommend use of HRT as per NICE guidelines
- We recommend WLWH in mid-life are provided information on menopause and treatment options [GPP]
- We suggest management of menopause in primary care according to NICE guidelines
- We recommend bone screening in line with BHIVA monitoring guidelines

Approximately 8700 women of potentially menopausal age (between 45 and 56) attended for HIV-related care in the UK in 2014, a six-fold increase over a ten year period [1]. Whilst there is some evidence to suggest that women living with HIV experience menopause at an earlier age and that they have more symptoms, there is no clear consensus in the literature around an impact of HIV infection on either timing or symptomatology of the menopause [2]. Given the possibility of earlier menopause, we recommend routine annual enquiry about menstrual pattern and menopausal symptoms (including hot flushes, sweats, sleep disturbance, genitourinary symptoms, and changes in mood) in women living with HIV aged 45 and over. Laboratory investigations to support the diagnosis (such as follicle-stimulating hormone) are not routinely indicated in women aged over 45 years with menstrual irregularity and/or vasomotor symptoms [3]. Menopause is diagnosed after ≥12 months of amenorrhoea in women not on hormonal contraception (or on the basis of menopausal symptoms in those without a uterus).

HIV and its treatment can predispose WLWH to a variety of metabolic complications [4,5], many of which are also associated with ageing and the menopause. The effect of the menopause transition on the risk of osteoporosis and cardiovascular disease in women living with HIV is therefore likely to be of importance. Bone loss is known to accelerate in the perimenopause and early postmenopause [6] and we recommend 3-yearly assessment of fracture risk using the FRAX tool in postmenopausal women (≥12 months amenorrhoea or following surgical menopause), and women aged >50.

In the absence of evidence on best management strategies for menopausal WLWH (including the efficacy and safety of hormone replacement therapy [HRT]), we advise management within primary care (where appropriate) in accordance with current National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) menopause guidelines [3]. HRT is not contraindicated in women living with HIV for the management of menopausal symptoms. Transdermal HRT, already recommended first-line by NICE [3], is likely to have an important role when managing menopause in HIV-positive women as it minimises the risk of nausea, and venous thromboembolism and stroke.

Finally, WLWH entering their midlife should be provided with adequate information about the menopause and possible treatment options (www.menopausematters.co.uk), including advice about lifestyle modification aimed at reducing menopausal symptoms and improving longer term health (such as exercise, reducing alcohol intake, and smoking cessation). Women in the perimenopausal and early postmenopausal phase should be advised on contraception [7]. They should also be encouraged to attend for routine screening for cervical and breast cancer as per national guidelines.

- 1. Zheng Yin, Public Health England, personal communication, 25/02/2016
- 2. Tariq S, Delpech V, Anderson J. The impact of the menopause transition of the health and wellbeing of women living with HIV: a narrative review. Maturitas. 2016;88:76-83.
- 3. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Menopause: diagnosis and management. UK: National Institute of Health and Care Excellence (NICE), 2015.
- Looby SE. Menopause-associated metabolic manifestations and symptomatology in HIV infection: a brief review with research implications. J Assoc Nurses AIDS Care. 2012;23(3):195-203.
- Karim R, Mack WJ, Kono N et al. Gonadotropin and sex steroid levels in HIV-infected premenopausal women and their association with subclinical atherosclerosis in HIV-infected and-uninfected women in the women's interagency HIV study (WIHS). The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2013;98(4):E610-E8.
- 6. Finnerty, F., Walker-Bone, K., & Tariq, S. Osteoporosis in postmenopausal women living with HIV. Maturitas 2017; 95: 50-54.
- 7. <u>https://www.fsrh.org/standards-and-guidance/documents/cec-ceu-guidance-womenover40-jul-2010/</u>

## **Intimate Partner Violence**

#### Recommendations

- We recommend routine enquiry about domestic abuse, including intimate partner violence, in sexual health & HIV clinics in accordance with NICE guidelines [grade?]
- We recommend services develop local guidelines & pathways based on BASHH guidance prior to the introduction of routine questioning (Responding to domestic abuse in sexual health settings. BASHH 2016)

Intimate partner violence (IPV) is defined as physical, sexual or psychological harm by a current or former partner, or spouse and is a form of domestic abuse. It also includes controlling behaviour such as isolating a person from family and friends, monitoring their movements and restricting access to financial resources, employment, education or medical care. It is widespread globally and viewed as a public health epidemic by the World Health Organisation due to its detrimental and extensive effects on physical and mental health [1].

There is a large evidence base globally showing links between IPV and HIV in women. Multiple forms of IPV are associated with HIV acquisition in women and are thought to be due to forced sex, difficulties negotiating condom use and a higher likelihood of male perpetrators having HIV and other sexually transmitted infections [2-4]. Women living with HIV are more likely to experience IPV than HIV-negative women and in the UK, lifetime prevalence has been reported as high as 52% [5-7]. IPV is a predictor of worse HIV outcomes and has been associated with lower use of ART, reduced self-reported ART adherence and significantly worsened viral suppression amongst women [8,9]. It may also impair a woman's ability to disclose her HIV status [10].

IPV is also common in the LGBTQ community and it has been shown that all forms of IPV occur at rates similar to or higher than those documented among women in heterosexual relationships [11, 12]. Although there is little data on IPV in the HIV-positive LGBTQ community, it can be assumed that prevalence is high. A recent meta-analysis showed that MSM who have experienced IPV are more likely to engage in unprotected anal sex and be HIV-positive [13] and that forced sex and difficulties with condom negotiation may be common in abusive LGBTQ relationships [14].

у

IPV causes significant long and short-term effects on physical and mental health and as such, people experiencing IPV are more likely to be in regular contact with health care professionals than those who are not experiencing IPV, providing important opportunities to identify and offer support [15, 16]. The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence recommends that all sexual health clinics should routinely enquire about domestic abuse including IPV [17]. It is crucial that enquiry and management of a disclosure of IPV is carried out safely with local guidelines, appropriately trained staff and clear referral pathways to relevant services and safeguarding. Detailed guidance on adequately preparing a service to respond to

domestic abuse has been published by BASHH and we would endorse its use before introducing routine enquiry in HIV services [18].

- World Health Organisation. Primary prevention of intimate-partner violence and sexual violence: Background paper for WHO expert meeting. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2007. <u>http://www.who.int/violence\_injury\_prevention/publications/violence/IPV-SV.pdf</u>
- Li Y, Marshall CM, Rees HC, Nunez A, Ezeanolue EE, Ehiri JE. Intimate partner violence and HIV infection among women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Int AIDS Soc 2014;17:18845.
- 3. Davila Y. Influence of abuse on condom negotiation among Mexican-American women involved in abusive relationships. Assoc Nurses AIDS Care Vol. 13(6) Nov-Dec 2002:46-56
- 4. Decker MR, Seage GR 3rd, Hemenway D, Gupta J, Raj A, Silverman JG. Intimate partner violence perpetration, standard and gendered STI/HIV risk behaviour, and STI/HIV diagnosis among a clinic-based sample of men. Sex Transm Infect. 2009 Dec;85(7):555-60
- Maman S, Mbwambo J, Hogan N et al. HIV-positive women report more lifetime partner violence: findings from a voluntary counselling and testing clinic in Dar es Salaam. Am J Public Health. 2002 Aug;92(8):1331-7
- 6. Garcia-Moreno C, Watts C. Violence against women: its importance for HIV/AIDS. AIDS 14: S253-265 Suppl. 3 2000
- 7. Dhairyawan R, Tariq S, Scourse R, Coyne K. Intimate partner violence in women living with HIV attending an inner city clinic in the UK: prevalence and associated factors. HIV Medicine 2013, 14: 303–310.
- 8. Schafer KR, Brant J, Gupta S et al. Intimate partner violence: A predictor of worse HIV outcomes and engagement in care. AIDS Patient Care & STDs Vol 26(6) epub May 2012.
- 9. Hatcher AM, Smout EM, Turan JM, Christofides N, Stöckl H. Intimate partner violence and engagement in HIV care and treatment among women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. AIDS 2015;29(16): p2183-2194
- 10. North R, Rothenburg K. Partner notification and the threat of domestic violence against HIV infection. N Eng J Med 1993;329:1194-6
- 11. Ard KL, Makadon HJ. Addressing Intimate Partner Violence in Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Patients. J Gen Intern Med. 2011 Aug; 26(8): 930–933.
- 12. Finneran C, StephensonR. Intimate partner violence among men who have sex with men: a systematic review. Trauma Violence Abuse. 2013 Apr;14(2):168-85.
- 13. Buller AM, Howard LM, Bacchus LJ. Associations between Intimate Partner Violence and Health among Men Who Have Sex with Men: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. PLoS medicine, 11(3).
- 14. Heintz AJ, Melendez RM. Intimate partner violence and HIV/STD risk among lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender individuals. J Interpers Violence 2006 Feb;21(2):193-208
- Bonomi AE, Anderson ML, Reid RJ, Rivara FP, Carrell D, Thompson RS. Medical and psychosocial diagnoses in women with a history of intimate partner violence. Arch Intern Med. 2009 Oct 12;169(18):1692-7
- 16. Responding to domestic abuse: A handbook for health professionals. Department of Health, London 2005.
- http://www.domesticviolencelondon.nhs.uk/uploads/downloads/DH 4126619.pdf
- Domestic violence and abuse: multi-agency working. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (2014). <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph50</u>
- 18. Sacks R, Dhairyawan R, Brawley D, Carroll M, Caswell R, Cohen C, Coyne K, Donohue C, Jayadeva P, McCarty E, Mears A, Shah R, Shardlow K, Wardle D. Responding to domestic abuse in sexual health settings. BASHH (2016) <u>http://www.bashh.org/documents/Responding%20to%20Domestic%20Abuse%20in%20Sexu</u> al%20Health%20Settings%20Feb%202016%20Final.pdf

## Female genital mutilation

#### Recommendations

- In line with the rest of the NHS, in the UK it is mandatory for HIV services to report female genital mutilation and collect data
  - HM Government. Multi-agency statutory guidance on female genital mutilation (2016)
  - HM Government. Mandatory reporting procedural information (2015)

Female genital mutilation (FGM) is a cultural practice widely carried out in many African countries such as Nigeria, Somalia and Egypt and some areas of the Middle East. The World Health Organisation (WHO) estimates that there are 100 million women and girls living with the consequences of FGM globally with 2 million procedures occurring a year. FGM is defined as procedures that include the partial or total removal of the external female genital organs for cultural or other nontherapeutic reasons. It can range from genital piercing to total infibulation, where the clitoris and labia minora are excised and the labia majora are stitched together to leave a very small orifice for the passage of urine and menstrual blood. This type is the most common and results in the most severe sequelae. Short-term risks of FGM include pain, excessive bleeding and wound infections. Long-term sequelae include chronic pain, menstrual problems, urinary tract and pelvic infections, keloid scar formation, dyspareunia and sexual dysfunction, obstetric complications, posttraumatic stress disorder and depression [1,2].

We could not find any data demonstrating direct causal links between FGM and HIV transmission in our literature review, but several studies have suggested mechanisms by which it could occur. The procedure is often performed on many girls at the same time and a study in Dar es Salaam showed that 97% of the time, the same cutting equipment was used for 15-20 girls increasing the likelihood of possible HIV spread through shared tools [3]. FGM can also often make vaginal intercourse more difficult due to scarring and a reduction in the size of the orifice. This increases trauma to the genital tissues and mucosal tearing, increasing the risk of viral transmission [2, 4, 5]. Difficulty with vaginal intercourse may also make couples more likely to engage in anal intercourse, which has a higher risk for HIV transmission than vaginal sex [2]. Women who have experienced FGM are also more likely to develop recurrent genitourinary infections such as vaginal candidiasis, which cause mucosal inflammation and increase the risk of tears and thus HIV acquisition [2].

FGM is a form of child abuse and is illegal in the United Kingdom (FGM Act 2003). It is also illegal to arrange for a child to be taken abroad for FGM. If caught, offenders face a large fine and a prison sentence of up to 14 years [6]. It is mandatory for health and social care professionals who identify FGM in girls aged <18 years to report cases to the police by the end of the next working day. Local safeguarding procedures should also be followed to see if any other actions are required. For women aged 18 years or over who have had FGM, parents/guardians who disclose their child has had FGM, girls thought to be at risk of FGM or have had FGM, but

have not disclosed or there are no signs, symptoms, local safeguarding procedures must be followed [7]. NHS acute trusts, mental health hospitals and general practice surgeries must submit data about patients who have had FGM to the Health and Social Care Information Centre (HSCIC) using the FGM Enhanced Dataset Information Standard [8]. This information is used nationally and locally to improve the NHS response to FGM and to help commission the services to support women who have experienced FGM and safeguard women and girls at risk of FGM.

In line with the rest of the NHS, it is mandatory for health and social care professionals working in HIV services to report FGM and collect data. More guidance on this with information on pathways and training can be found on the government website [7,8].

- Eliminating Female genital mutilation An interagency statement OHCHR, UNAIDS, UNDP, UNECA, UNESCO, UNFPA, UNHCR, UNICEF, UNIFEM, WHO http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/43839/1/9789241596442\_eng.pdf
- 2. Brady M. Female genital mutilation: Complications and risk of HIV transmission. AIDS Patient Care and STDs, 1999 Vol 13 (12): 709-716
- 3. Mutenbei IB, Mwesiga MK. The impact of obsolete traditions on HIV/AIDS rapid transmission in Africa: The case of compulsory circumcision on young girls in Tanzania. (Abst 23473). Int Conf on AIDS 1998;12:436
- 4. Hardy DB. Cultural practices contributing to the transmission of HIV in Africa. Rev Infect Dis 1987;9(6): 1109-117
- 5. Kun KE. Female genital mutilation: the potential for increased risk of HIV infection. Int J Gynecol Obstetr 1997;15:153-155
- 6. United Kingdom Female Genital Mutilation Act, 2003. http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/31/section/1
- HM Government. Multi-agency statutory guidance on female genital mutilation (2016). https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/512906/M ulti\_Agency\_Statutory\_Guidance\_on\_FGM\_\_-\_FINAL.pdf
- HM Government. Mandatory reporting procedural information (2015). <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/469448/F</u> <u>GM-Mandatory-Reporting-procedural-info-FINAL.pdf</u>

## Sexual dysfunction and HIV

#### Recommendations

- We recommend that annual enquiry about sexual function, and broader sexual wellbeing, should be standard of care for all PLWH.
- Access to sexual dysfunction services should be available, and pathways in place for referral from HIV services to services skilled in treating sexual problems.
- We recommend that all men with sexual problems have a full sexual history and a focused physical examination, including evaluation of cardiovascular risk.
- We recommend investigation of male sexual problems should include evaluation of bioavailable fasted morning testosterone level, prolactin and thyroid function as a minimum, along with fasting lipids and screening for diabetes if not recently tested.
- All women presenting with sexual pain should be offered a physical examination by a clinician with expertise in sexual problems or sexual health
- It is good practice to offer examination to all women where physical factors associated with their sexual problem cannot otherwise be excluded
- We recommend services record data collected during annual reviews to develop an evidence-base regarding sexual function in transgender people living with HIV

It is well recognised that a healthy and satisfying sex life is associated with living longer, staying healthy and improved mental-health and wellbeing [1]. The presence of sexual problems has been associated with reduced adherence to medications [2,3] and the additive effects of sexual difficulties and mood disturbance may further negatively affect adherence to medication. Sexual dysfunction has also been associated with poor condom use and risky sexual behaviour [2,4].

Sexual problems, concerns, difficulties and dysfunctions amongst PLWH are common [2,4] and studies have shown a higher prevalence of problems amongst individuals living with HIV than in the general population [5,6], with many reporting continued high rates despite the widespread use of ART [2,7]. The reasons for this are multifactorial and commonly include both psychological and biological influences. In the UK, an ageing HIV cohort, with a burden of co-morbidities and polypharmacy, is likely to experience continued high levels of sexual problems into the future [8].

High rates of mental health problems, including anxiety and depression, amongst PLWH frequently co-exist with sexual dysfunction [9]; the relationship between mental health and sexual function is likely to be bi-directional. Depression and anxiety may predict subsequent sexual dysfunction [10], and this may be due to both a direct effect of mood disturbance as well as the effect of medications used to treat mood problems [10]. The BASHH MSM guidelines note that 'sexual difficulties have been associated with low self-confidence and poor self-image and there are complex interactions between sexual dysfunction, recreational drug and alcohol use, mood disturbance, sexual risk taking and HIV infection especially amongst HIV positive MSM' [11].

Supporting PLWH to achieve a healthy and satisfying sex life should be part of routine clinical care. Annual enquiry about erectile dysfunction (ED) is a NICE recommended standard for management of other chronic conditions, such as diabetes [12]. We recommend that annual enquiry about sexual function, and broader sexual wellbeing, should be standard of care for all PLWH. Access to services should be available, and pathways in place for referral from HIV services to services skilled in treating sexual dysfunction.

Sexual difficulties are under-reported and patients may not raise the subject themselves so it is important to ask about sex directly. For clinicians that are less confident or knowledgeable about asking sexual well-being questions, training to ask open-ended questions, which are respectful of different sexual preferences and sexualities, is encouraged. Given the multi-faceted nature of sexual problems we recommend a bio-psycho-social approach to assessment and treatment.

For sexual problems that may indicate underlying medical conditions, such as erection difficulties and pain on sex, local pathways for timely access to relevant medical investigations and treatment are crucial. Where there is a predominantly organic basis to sexual problems psychological support, alongside medical treatments, to support adjustment to changes in sexual function may be helpful and facilitate a sex-life that still has value. For those people in whom lifestyle factors significantly contribute to their sexual problem, for instance substance use and alcohol misuse, conversations around behaviour change are encouraged. Brief psychological interventions can be effective at supporting individuals to make behavioural changes, including motivational interviewing combined with cognitive-behavioural-therapy (CBT).

Specialist sexual dysfunction and psychosexual services should be accessible and appropriately tailored to the population they serve. A step-care model can be a cost-effective way to improve access to psychosexual interventions at the level that individuals need them.

In line with the 'Standards for Psychological Support for Adults living with HIV' [13] and NICE mental health guidelines, we recommend the provision of accessible and tailored self-help material for PLWH. This should include access to accurate information about sexual arousal, and evidence-based self-help material about common sexual problems. However, accurate information is sparse and inaccurate information is easily accessible (e.g. via pornography). Psycho-education can be a useful and cost-effective first-line intervention for sexual arousal and response, and the distress can result from comparisons to unrealistic myths and norms. Guided self-help, including tailored material, is particularly effective when there is a psychological aspect to the presenting problem. In addition to self-help, timely integrated medical and psychological assessment and treatment is important.

Detailed guidance on the management of specific sexual difficulties is beyond the scope of this guideline and what follows is a summary of some key issues to be considered when managing PLWH; where available signposting to relevant national/international published guidance is included.

# MEN

# Erectile Dysfunction (ED)

ED is a highly prevalent problem and prevalence increases with age [14]. Early studies reported an association with ED and treatment with protease inhibitors [15], but more recent studies find no association [16]. Peripheral neuropathy (PN) secondary to older ARV agents, particularly NRTIs, may contribute to ED, but ED has not been consistently linked with any particular antiretroviral class [17].

Importantly, the association between ED and coronary artery disease (CAD) is increasingly recognised, and ED may be an early marker for more generalized arteriopathy including undiagnosed coronary artery disease [18]. The link between ED and CAD is not fully explained, but may involve an interplay between androgen dysregulation, chronic inflammation, and cardiovascular risk factors that determines endothelial dysfunction and atherosclerosis, resulting in disorders of penile and coronary circulation [18]. In HIV infection, risk of cardiovascular disease and endothelial dysfunction has been documented [19], it is recommended that all men living with HIV with ED should have a thorough cardiovascular risk assessment undertaken and any risk factors for CHD addressed vigorously.

ED has been associated less safe sexual practices [20], particularly amongst MSM and this is discussed further in "Sexual Problems and Dysfunctions in MSM, Dr Stuart Gibson" [12].

Sexual history should include enquiry about concomitant drug therapy (such as antidepressants and antihypertensives) and recreational drugs (including anabolic steroids, alcohol and psychoactive substances) as these may be implicated in the development of ED [21]. We suggest services develop pathways for psychological support for patients to explore their sexual choices and/or develop confidence about methods to reduce sexual risks. Sex therapy techniques, for instance, can improve men's confidence about using condoms.

ED in the context of HIV disease may also be commonly related to psychological factors such as fear of onward transmission of HIV, disclosure concerns, changes in body image, stigma and issues around condom usage [22], all of which should be explored in the sexual history and may require psychological input. Where there is a significant contribution of psychogenic causes for ED, access to psychosexual therapy should be available. The potential merits of sex therapy, in conjunction with medical therapy when appropriate, should be discussed and even when ED is primarily organic, psychological therapy can support the individual, or couple, to adjust to changes in their sexual function.

Assessment and response to treatment may be aided by the use of validated scales such as International Index of Erectile Function (IIEF) [23] which was adapted for use in HIV positive MSM [24], however this cannot replace a detailed sexual history. Scales intended to measure broader aspects of sexual well-being, including sexual confidence and enjoyment, are in the process of being validated for clinical populations.

Useful up to date guidance on management of erectile dysfunction can be found via the European Association of Urology [25] and British Society of Sexual medicine [26].

Phosphodiesterase inhibitors type 5 (PDE5Is) namely sildenafil (Viagra<sup>®</sup>), tadalafil (Cialis<sup>®</sup>), Avanafil (Spedra<sup>®</sup>) and vardenafil (Levitra<sup>®</sup>) are usually the first-line medical treatment for ED; all undergo predominantly hepatic metabolism via the cytochrome P450 3A4 isoenzyme [27]. Any drug affecting this P450 isoenzyme system has the potential to affect PED5i levels. Consequently, care and dose adjustment is required with reduced and less frequent dosage recommended when PDE5Is are co-administered with protease inhibitors, or other boosting agents such as cobicistat, along with vigilance to associated adverse events such as hypotension, syncope, visual disturbances and priapism. The PDE5i may also require dose adjustment when co-administered with some NNRTIs that induce the cytochrome P450 3A4 isoenzyme, due to reduced bioavailability of PDE5I. In contrast there is no dosage adjustment required for any of the ARVs when used concomitantly with the PDE5Is.We recommend that drug interactions should be checked on the Liverpool HIV drug interactions website prior to prescribing PDE5i to patients on ART [28].

Patients who use amyl nitrate or other recreational nitrate agents should be cautioned not to use these agents in conjunction with PDE5Is due to risk of fatal hypotension.

Use of intracorporeal alprostadil is an effective second line treatment for ED, but patients must be cautioned that the injection site may expose patient/partners to blood-borne infection; patients should be counselled to ensure that a condom is rolled back to cover the injection site and to ensure safe needle disposal. Alprostadil is also available as a trans-urethral preparation (MUSE©) which can cause local side effects including urethritis which may theoretically increase the risk of onward HIV transmission, or acquisition of another STI by the patient. Vitaros is an alprostadil containing cream licensed for treatment of ED and is administered to the urethral meatus. Penile and vaginal irritation has been reported using this product and condoms should be used with it, especially if the female partner is at risk of getting pregnant.

## Ejaculatory disorders

There are few data describing prevalence of ejaculatory disorders; factors potentially contributing to delayed ejaculation in men with HIV may include medications (especially antidepressants), penile sensation loss due to neuropathy (including drug-induced) [21], endocrinopathies, and psychological aetiologies [29].

An increasing proportion of men report using substances to prolong ejaculation; given substance use is associated with higher risk sexual practices this is an important area for further research. Routinely recording ejaculatory disorders will facilitate better understanding of the prevalence. Along with medical treatments for men reaching the criteria for early ejaculation, psychological interventions are an effective for men to increase their control over how they ejaculate, as well as more broadly in relation to anxiety around sex.

Treatment recommendations for delayed ejaculation [30] are published by BASHH Sexual dysfunction special interest group and guidance on management of rapid ejaculation [31] are published by ISSM and are freely available.

#### Desire

Problems related to loss of sexual desire have been described at high prevalence rates in HIV-infected men, with studies reporting prevalence rates of up to 48% of seropositive MSM [30,32]. There are a host of possible psychosocial contributing factors and the individual often cites psychological reasons as the putative cause [20,30]; an integrated psychological and medical assessment is optimal. Hormonal abnormalities can affect desire and lack of desire associated with androgen deficiency (see below) has been described in HIV positive patients on ARVs [20,34-36]. There have been reports of men on ART with increases in serum oestradiol, which may rarely be a cause of loss of sexual desire [20,32]. As with all sexual problems a sexual history including review of medications that may cause hormonal disturbance plus a focused physical examination paying attention for signs of hypogonadism is warranted, along with hormonal assays (testosterone, prolactin and thyroid hormones as minimum), to determine if there is a physical cause contributing to low desire.

## Androgen Deficiency

Prevalence estimates of androgen deficiency amongst men living with HIV have declined since the widespread introduction of cART [36], but prevalence is still higher than would be expected in the general population [37]. Androgen deficiency in this group is frequently associated with low luteinizing hormone and follicle-stimulating hormone; individuals may have a normal total testosterone but low free or bioavailable testosterone level due to increased levels of SHBG. Calculation of free and bioavailable testosterone is informative and can be made using Vermeulen equation using an online calculator tool [38].

The pathogenesis of testosterone deficiency in HIV is likely to be multifactorial and several mechanisms have been proposed including chronic illness, HIV replication, medications including ART, lipodystrophy, metabolic syndrome, other co-morbidities and co-infections [37,39]. Studies have suggested a loss of diurnal variation in free testosterone levels among HIV-infected men compared to HIV negative controls [40].

'Guidelines on the management of sexual problems in men: the role of androgens' [41] is a multi-specialty guideline produced in 2010 and is freely available on line.

## Sexual function and circumcision

There are data from several large studies suggesting that circumcision of adult males as a strategy to reduce HIV acquisition is not associated with reduced sexual functioning at a population level [42-44].

#### WOMEN

There is a paucity of literature regarding sexual function of women living with HIV. Available data strongly supports high levels of sexual difficulties amongst women living with HIV [45-50]. Furthermore, WLWH are rarely asked by their healthcare provider about sexual function (FSD) [51,52] despite the fact that it is likely that questioning about sexual function is of benefit [52]. It is therefore likely that sexual problems are under-diagnosed and under-treated in WLWH and opportunities to improve quality of life are missed.

Female sexual dysfunction commonly relates to psychosocial issues and HIV status itself [47]. Fear of onward transmission (horizontal or vertical) may be a major cause of anxiety and dysfunction, particularly where there may be disclosure issues, and a need to negotiate condom use [51]. Poorer sexual functioning in WLWH has been associated with menopause, low CD4 count, low mood and poor body image [45,46]. Complications of HIV infection and HIV treatment, such as neuropathy (HIV or drug-induced), endocrine disturbances or atherosclerosis may cause or contribute to sexual difficulties. Menopause is associated with changes in sexual function; WLWH may experience earlier menopause [53] and more menopause-related sexual problems [54]. For women experiencing painful sex as a result of menopause-related urogenital atrophy, NICE menopause guidelines recommend that topical vaginal oestrogens may offer great symptomatic benefit with minimal systemic absorption.

Assessment of women's sexual dysfunction should be primarily via thorough sexual history taking, paying particular attention to the bio-psycho-social context in which any problem is occurring. All women presenting with sexual pain should be offered a physical examination by a clinician with expertise in sexual problems or sexual health, and it is good practice to offer examination for all women where physical factors associated with their complaint cannot otherwise be excluded with confidence. Scales used to measure female sexual dysfunction include Female Sexual Function Index (FSFI), Female Sexual Distress Scale (FSDS), Sexual Interest and Desire Inventory (SIDI); these may have limited usefulness in assessment and monitoring of sexual problems, and have not been specifically validated amongst WLWH

#### TRANSGENDER INDIVIDUALS

There are no data describing HIV-positive transgender men and women's sexual functioning. We recommend services record data collected during annual reviews to develop an evidence-base regarding sexual function in this population. We suggest signposting to specialised transgender services, where available, and seeking advice from colleagues with expertise where required.

- 1. Brody S. The relative health benefits of different sexual activities. J Sex Med. 2010 Apr;7(4 Pt 1):1336-61.
- Harding R, Lampe FC, Norwood S, Date HL, Clucas C, Fisher M, Johnson M, Edwards S, Anderson J, Sherr L. Symptoms are highly prevalent among HIV outpatients and associated with poor adherence and unprotected sexual intercourse. Sex Transm Infect. 2010 Dec;86(7):520-4.
- Trotta MP, Ammassari A, Murri R, Marconi P, Zaccarelli M, Cozzi-Lepri A, Acinapura R, Abrescia N, De Longis P, Tozzi V, Scalzini A, Vullo V, Boumis E, Nasta P, Monforte Ad, Antinori A; AdICoNA and AdeSpall Study Group. Self-reported sexual dysfunction is frequent among HIV-infected persons and is associated with suboptimal adherence to antiretrovirals. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2008 Apr;22(4):291-9.
- 4. Sadeghi-Nejad H, Wasserman M, Weidner W, Richardson D, Goldmeier D. Sexually transmitted diseases and sexual function. J Sex Med. 2010 Jan;7(1 Pt 2):389-413.
- 5. Shindel AW, Horberg MA, Smith JF, Breyer BN. Sexual dysfunction, HIV, and AIDS in men who have sex with men. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2011 Jun;25(6):341-9
- 6. Mao L, Newman CE, Kidd MR, Saltman DC, Rogers GD, Kippax SC. Self-reported sexual difficulties and their association with depression and other factors among gay men attending high HIV-caseload general practices in Australia. J Sex Med. 2009 May;6(5):1378-85.
- 7. Collazos J. Sexual dysfunction in the highly active antiretroviral therapy era. AIDS Rev. 2007 Oct-Dec;9(4):237-45
- 8. Patel R, Moore T, Cooper V, McArdle C, Perry N, Cheek E, Gainsborough N, Fisher M. An observational study of comorbidity and healthcare utilisation among HIV-positive patients aged 50 years and over. Int J STD AIDS. 2015 Jun 10.
- 9. Guaraldi G, Luzi K, Murri R, Granata A, De Paola M, Orlando G, Squillace N, Malmusi D, Carani C, Comelli D, Esposito R, Martinez E. Sexual dysfunction in HIV-infected men: role of antiretroviral therapy, hypogonadism and lipodystrophy. Antivir Ther. 2007;12(7):1059-65.
- Hart TA, Mustanski B, Ryan DT, Gorbach PM, Stall RD, Surkan PJ, Plankey M. Depression and sexual dysfunction among HIV-positive and HIV-negative men who have sex with men: mediation by use of antidepressants and recreational stimulants. Arch Sex Behav. 2015 Feb;44(2):399-409.
- 11. MSM guidelines in progress
- 12. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng28/chapter/1-Recommendations#managingcomplications accessed 20.6.16
- 13. <u>http://www.bhiva.org/documents/Publications/Standards for psychological support for a dults\_living\_with\_HIV.pdf</u>
- 14. Laumann EO, Paik A, Rosen RC. Sexual dysfunction in the United States: prevalence and predictors. JAMA 1999; 281: 537–544
- 15. Moreno-Pérez O, Escoín C, Serna-Candel C, Picó A, Alfayate R, Merino E, Reus S, Boix V, Sanchez-Paya J, Portilla J. Risk factors for sexual and erectile dysfunction in HIV-infected men: the role of protease inhibitors. AIDS. 2010 Jan 16;24(2):255-64.
- 16. Wang Q, Young J, Bernasconi E, Cavassini M, Vernazza P, Hirschel B, Weber R, Furrer H, Stoeckle M, Bucher HC, Fux C; Swiss HIV Cohort Study. The prevalence of erectile dysfunction and its association with antiretroviral therapy inHIV-infected men: the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Antivir Ther. 2013;18(3):337-44.
- Asboe D, Catalan J, Mandalia S, Dedes N, Florence E, Schrooten W, et al. Sexual dysfunction in HIV-positive men is multi-factorial: a study of prevalence and associated factors. AIDS Care. <u>https://uroweb.org/guideline/male-sexual-dysfunction/</u> accessed 18<sup>th</sup> June 2016
- 18. A Systematic Review of the Association Between Erectile Dysfunction and Cardiovascular Disease By: Giorgio Gandaglia a , Alberto Briganti a , Graham Jackson b , Robert A. Kloner c , Francesco Montorsi a , Piero Montorsi d and Charalambos Vlachopoulos e. European Urology, Volume 65 Issue 5, May 2014, Pages 968-978
- 19. Lambert CT, Sandesara PB, Hirsh B, Shaw LJ, Lewis W, Quyyumi AA, Schinazi RF, Post WS, Sperling L. HIV, highly active antiretroviral therapy and the heart: a cellular to epidemiological review. HIV Med. 2016 Jun;17(6):411-24
- 20. Cove J, Petrak J. Factors associated with sexual problems in HIV-positive gay men. Int J STD AIDS 2004; 15: 732–736.

- 21. Richardson D, Lamba H, Goldmeier D, Nalabanda A, Harris JR. Factors associated with sexual dysfunction in men with HIV infection. Int J STD AIDS 2006; 17: 764–767
- 22. Santi D, Brigante G, Zona S, Guaraldi G, Rochira V. Male sexual dysfunction and HIV--a clinical perspective. Nat Rev Urol. 2014
- Rosen RC, Riley A, Wagner G, Osterloh IH, Kirkpatrick J, Mishra A. The international index of erectile function (IIEF): a multidimensional scale for assessment of erectile dysfunction. Urology. 1997 Jun;49(6):822-30
- 24. Coyne K, Mandalia S, McCullough S, Catalan J, Noestlinger C, Colebunders R, Asboe D. The International Index of Erectile Function: development of an adapted tool for use in HIVpositive men who have sex with men. J Sex Med. 2010 Feb;7(2 Pt 1):769-74. Feb;11(2):99-109
- 25. https://uroweb.org/wp-content/uploads/14-Male-Sexual-Dysfunction\_LR.pdf accessed 8.10.16
- 26. http://www.bssm.org.uk/downloads/BSSM\_ED\_Management\_Guidelines\_2013.pdf accessed 18.6.16
- 27. Muirhead GJ, Wulff MB, Fielding A, Kleinermans D, Buss N. Pharmacokinetic interactions between sildenafil and saquinavir/ritonavir. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2000; 50: 99–107.
- 28. www.hiv-druginteractions.org accessed 8.10.16
- 29. Jenkins LC, Mulhall JP. Delayed orgasm and anorgasmia. Fertil Steril. 2015 Nov;104(5) :1082-8.
- Richardson D, Goldmeier D; BASHH Special Interest Group for Sexual Dysfunction. Recommendations for the management of retarded ejaculation: BASHH Special Interest Group for Sexual Dysfunction. Int J STD AIDS. 2006 Jan;17(1):7-13.
- 31. http://www.issm.info/images/uploads/ISSM\_Quick\_Reference\_Guide\_to\_PE\_\_\_website\_JAN\_2015.pdf. Accessed 14.6.16
- 32. Lamba H, Goldmeier D, Mackie NE, Scullard G. Antiretroviral therapy is associated with sexual dysfunction and with increased serum oestradiol levels in men. Int J STD AIDS 2004; 15: 234–237.
- 33. Collazos J, Mayo J, Martinez E, Ibarra S. Association between sexual disturbances and sexual hormones with specific antiretroviral drugs. AIDS 2002; 16: 1294–1295.
- 34. Ollazos J, Ibarra S, Martinez E, Mayo J. Serum prolactin concentrations in patients infected with human immunodeficiency virus. HIV Clin Trials 2002; 3: 133–138.
- 35. Crum NF, Furtek KJ, Olson PE, Amling CL, Wallace MR. A review of hypogonadism and erectile dysfunction among HIV-infected men during the pre- and post-HAART eras: diagnosis, pathogenesis, and management. AIDS Patient Care STDS 2005; 19: 655–671.
- 36. Ashby J, Goldmeier D, Sadeghi-Nejad H. Hypogonadism in human immunodeficiency viruspositive men. Korean J Urol. 2014 Jan;55(1):9-16.
- 37. Crum-Cianflone NF, Bavaro M, Hale B et al. Erectile dysfunction and hypogonadism among men with HIV. AIDS Patient Care STDS 2007; 21: 9–19.
- 38. http://www.issam.ch/freetesto.htm
- 39. Rochira V, Guaraldi G. Hypogonadism in the HIV-infected man. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am. 2014 Sep;43(3):709-30.
- Slama L, Jacobson LP, Li X, Palella FJ Jr, Margolick JB, Kingsley LA, Wiley DJ, Pialoux G, Dobs AS, Brown TT; Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study. Longitudinal Changes Over 10 Years in Free Testosterone Among HIV-Infected and HIV-Uninfected Men. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2016 Jan 1;71(1):57-64.
- 41. <u>http://www.endocrinology.org/policy/docs/10-12-</u> 01\_UK%20Guidelines%20Androgens%20Male.pdf
- 42. Homfray V, Tanton C, Mitchell KR, Miller RF, Field N, Macdowall W, Wellings K, Sonnenberg P, Johnson AM, Mercer CH. Examining the association between male circumcision and sexual function: evidence from a British probability survey. AIDS. 2015 Jul 17;29(11):1411-6.
- Krieger JN, Mehta SD, Bailey RC, Agot K, Ndinya-Achola JO, Parker C, Moses S. Adult male circumcision: effects on sexual function and sexual satisfaction in Kisumu, Kenya. J Sex Med. 2008 Nov;5(11):2610-22.
- 44. Kigozi G, Watya S, Polis CB, Buwembo D, Kiggundu V, Wawer MJ, Serwadda D, Nalugoda F, Kiwanuka N, Bacon MC, Ssempijja V, Makumbi F, Gray RH. The effect of male circumcision on

sexual satisfaction and function, results from a randomized trial of male circumcision for human immunodeficiency virus prevention, Rakai, Uganda. BJU Int. 2008 Jan;101(1):65-70

- Wilson TE, Jean-Louis G, Schwartz R, Golub ET, Cohen MH, Maki P, Greenblatt R, Massad LS, Robison E, Goparaju L, Lindau S. HIV infection and women's sexual functioning. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2010 Aug;54(4):360-7.
- 46. Luzi K, Guaraldi G, Murri R, De Paola M, Orlando G, Squillace N, Esposito R, Rochira V, Zirilli L, Martinez E. Body image is a major determinant of sexual dysfunction in stable HIV-infected women. Antivir Ther. 2009;14(1):85-92. Erratum in: Antivir Ther. 2009;14(3):465. Vincenzo, Rochira [corrected to Rochira, Vincenzo].
- 47. Florence E, Schrooten W, Dreezen C et al. Prevalence and factors associated with sexual dysfunction among HIV- positive women in Europe. AIDS Care 2004; 16: 550–557.
- 48. Keegan A, Lambert S, Petrak J. Sex and relationships for HIV- positive women since HAART: a qualitative study. AIDS Patient Care STDS 2005; 19: 645–654.
- 49. Meyer-Bahlburg HF, Nostlinger C, Exner TM et al. Sexual functioning in HIV 1 and HIV injected drug-using women. J Sex Marital Ther 1993; 19: 56–68.
- 50. Hankins C, Gendron S, Tran T, Lamping D, Lapointe N. Sexuality in Montreal women living with HIV. AIDS Care 1997; 9: 261–271.
- 51. Bell C, Richardson D, Wall M, Goldmeier D. HIV-associated female sexual dysfunction clinical experience and literature review. Int J STD AIDS 2006; 17: 706–709.
- 52. Sandfort TG, Collier KL, Grossberg R. Addressing sexual problems in HIV primary care: experiences from patients. Arch Sex Behav. 2013 Oct;42(7):1357-68.
- 53. Tariq S, Delpech V, Anderson J. The impact of the menopause transition of the health and wellbeing of women living with HIV: a narrative review. Maturitas. 2016;88:76-83
- Boonyanurak P, Bunupuradah T, Wilawan K, Lueanyod A, Thongpaeng P, Chatvong D,Sophonphan J, Saeloo S, Ananworanich J, Chaithongwongwatthana S. Age at menopause and menopause-related symptoms in human immunodeficiency virus-infected Thai women. Menopause. 2012 Jul;19(7):820-4